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Chairman’s
Statement

2011 was a volatile year in many parts of the world given the European
sovereign debt crisis, political unrest in the Middle East, Japan’s earthquake
and nuclear crisis — volatility that has impacted energy security and energy
supply options. However, different countries have responded differently.
Whilst Germany and Japan, for example, are taking more progressive
steps in reducing their nuclear dependency by increasing renewable energy
investments, other countries, such as Spain and ltaly, under severe economic
constraints, have responded by reducing government subsidies in the sector.
However, in the medium to long term, we believe the expansion of renewable
energy in the global energy mix is unquestionable due to ever increasing
energy demand and the need to reduce Carbon in order to prevent global
warming.

The year 2011 marked the first year of People’s Republic of China’s (“PRC”,
or “China”) 12th Five Year Plan (“FYP”). With momentum gathered during the
11th FYP period, the country continued to promote renewable energy. Policy
support, including subsidy and tax incentives remained unchanged in 2011,
ensuring the commercial viability and long term growth prospects of the
sector. In addition, during the middle of 2011, China introduced policies to
align provincial wind development targets with the national targets, ensuring
more steady and structured growth of the sector and better alignment
between generation and transmission capacities.
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Within this environment, China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
(previously known as Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited) (“CRE” or “the
Company”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) continued to
execute its business plan. Having completed the transformation of the Group
into a fully-fledged renewable energy player in China and securing the Group
with a strategic financial investor in 2010, the Group started to high-grade
its portfolio and divested its non-core software business in February 2011.
The Group also changed its name in June 2011 to “China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited” which more appropriately reflects the focus and principal
business activities of the Group.

As of 2011, the Group has a gross total power generation capacity of 610.5
MW wind farms and a 25 MW waste-to-energy power plant. Revenues of
amount HK$89.90 million were generated. The Group’s cash position remains
strong, with cash and cash equivalents of HK$388.75 million, and a net asset
value per share of HK$0.76.

For 2012, the Group will continue to implement its expansion strategy.
Provincial level approval from the Development and Reform Committee
(“DRC”, or on national level, “NDRC”) has been secured for the Phase Two
49.5 mega-watt (“MW”) wind farm project in Siziwang Qi (“SZWQ”) of Western
Inner Mongolia. Construction will commence in early 2012. Preliminary work
has also been initiated to obtain approval for the Phase Three 200MW SZWQ
wind farm project on this site. A feasibility study for another wind farm project
in Kulun Qi of East Inner Mongolia has also been prepared and has been
submitted as part of the approval process for the NDRC.

In addition, several memoranda of understanding (“MOU”) with local
governments in Yunnan, Hebei and other provinces have been executed
allowing the Group to evaluate wind resources in these sites and assuming
positive data, will help increase the company’s project pipeline.

This year, the Group has enhanced its operational procedures, further
emphasising safety, reliability and efficiency. We continue to refine our
management system towards a meritocratic, single-point accountability
culture, to high-grade our staff by securing high-potential renewable energy
professionals to join our middle management and to maintain a market-
oriented compensation package.
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Looking into the year 2012, we anticipate that the global economy will
continue to be affected by the European sovereign debt crisis and a
slow economic recovery in the US. Governments will likely be cautious
in implementing either progressive or regressive national policies for the
renewable energy sector. China is one of the few countries to have the
political will and fiscal muscle to continue to drive towards a low carbon
economy.

The economic success in China over the last three decades has generated
a number of unintended consequences. Energy security has been a key
concern to the government as import dependency of oil and natural gas
steadily increases. These imports are subject to increasing volatile geopolitical
uncertainties such as in the Middle East. Tapping renewable energy within
China is one of the most politically secured energy supply options. In addition,
China has been the largest Carbon Dioxide (“CO,”) emitter in the world
since the 11th FYP period. There is increasing pressure, both internationally
from the EU as well as the US and domestically from the growing middle
class population, for China to clean up its environment. Renewable energy
generation, with its zero CO, emission fits hand-in-glove with these demands.

On the positive side, we anticipate that the renewable energy industry
landscape in China would be more structured in 2012 with a number of
policies to support the sector. These included the recently published “China
Wind Energy Development Roadmap 2050” by NDRC which projected a
massive increase of wind installed capacity from now to 2050. The recent
announcement of a subsidised tariff which applies to all new solar power
projects provided a structured framework for this sector to grow.

Despite these policy supports and the deflated equipment prices, the
sector landscape will continue to be highly competitive and inevitably
present challenges to the Group. Whilst reinforcement and expansion of the
transmission grid system would likely take place in the near to medium term
which will align renewable power generation and transmission, we believe
power dispatch curtailment will continue to linger in 2012.
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The Group will continue to execute our growth strategy in 2012, i.e. being
a return-focussed developer-investor-operator in the renewable space in
China and will focus in the wind sector in this first horizon. Securing project
approvals for our projects pipeline and maximising power dispatches from our
operating assets are our key focus.

Over the medium term, we will continue to high-grade our assets portfolio,
strengthen our capital base, broaden our platform and recruit & retain quality
staff to ensure CRE to be a high performing company and generate returns to
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest thanks to all
our business partners, employees, management and shareholders for the
dedication and support you have shown for CRE throughout the year under
review.

OEI Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Management Discussion

and Analysis

Following the successful business acquisition from the parent company
in August 2010, 2011 was the first full-year that China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (previously known as Hong Kong Energy (Holdings)
Limited) (“CRE” or “the Company”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”) operated its alternative energy assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the turnover on the Group’s
alternative energy assets amounted to HK$89.90 million, an increase of
402.2% from HK$17.9 million for the same period ended 31 December 2010.
Gross profit was HK$10.96 million, an increase of 323.2% from HK$2.59
million in 2010. A full-year as compared to a four-month operation of the
alternative energy business accounted for such an increase. The software
business result was separately reported under the discontinued operations
after the Group’s decision on 16 February 2011 to close down the relevant
operation.

Due to an unforeseen prolonged power dispatch curtailment which took
place in one of our wind farms, the Group has assessed and provided for an
impairment loss of HK$42.91 million. At the same time, a fair value gain of
HK$69.32 million was recognised for the investment right granted to a global
private investment firm TPG Growth (with its subsidiary STAR Butterfly Energy
Ltd. (“STAR?”), collectively, the “TPG”) on 23 November 2010.

Whilst assets in both subsidiary and associated companies contributed to the
profits, assets in the associated companies have made a larger contribution,
amounted to HK$67.38 million, on the underlying performance predominantly
due to the advantages of economy of scale.

Without the one-off gains related to the alternative energy business
acquisition as in 2010, the Group’s net profit after tax attributable to the
equity holders of the Group for 2011 was HK$13.20 million (2010: a net profit
after tax of HK$336.31 million). Basic earnings per share were HK1.12 cents as
compared to last year basic earnings per share of HK39.67 cents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s total bank borrowings was HK$688.68
million as compared to HK$725.67 million in 2010. The difference was mainly
due to repayment of principal instalments.

The bank borrowings included interest-bearing Renminbi bank loans to the
Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”, or
“China”), with interest rates fixed at the People’s Bank of China rates. The
maturity dates for the Group’s outstanding borrowings were spread over
the next ten years. There were HK$70.35 million repayable within one year,
HK$281.39 million repayable within two to five years and HK$336.94 million
repayable after five years.

Convertible notes of principal amount RMB73.50 million (equivalent to
HK$83.06 million) were issued on 30 December 2009 to HKC (Holdings)
Limited (“HKC”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “HKC Group”) for
the acquisition of an effectively 10% equity interest of the Danjinghe wind farm
project company. The notes have a three-year conversion and carry zero-
interest coupon with a fixed conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share. The
notional loan amount of the convertible notes was HK$80.64 million as at 31
December 2011.

The Group’s unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were HK$338.75
million as at 31 December 2011 as compared to HK$362.56 million in 2010.
Normal operating expenditures and construction preparation work payments
accounted for such a decrease. For future projects, the Group will first rely
on its internal sources and will actively seek bank financing to fund its future
capital expenditure commitments.

The Group did not use financial instruments for financial hedging purposes
during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiaries have charged their assets including wind power
equipment, construction in progress, prepaid land lease payments and
trade receivables, worth approximately RMB836.66 million (equivalent to
HK$1,032.60 million) as security for the bank borrowings as at 31 December
2011. Same assets, worth approximately RMB838.06 million (equivalent to
HK$992.10 million), were charged as at 31 December 2010. Appreciation of
the Renminbi currency gave rise to the variance in assets value.

Gearing Ratio
As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s gearing ratio, which was the total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, excluding the cash and cash
equivalents related to the discontinued software business but including
restricted cash, divided by total equity, was 24% as compared to 26% as at
31 December 2010.
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The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2011 (Nil
as at 31 December 2010).

The year 2011 has been a year of political and economic volatility worldwide.
A mixture of good opportunities and severe competition shaped the
renewable energy arena. The Group has been making steady progress in
executing its business plan over the year. After restructuring the business and
introducing a strategic investor in 2010, the Group, since February 2011, has
been streamlining its portfolio and divesting its non-core software business.
Reflecting its transformation, the Group has properly refreshed the company
identity by changing its name to “China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited” in June 2011. Considerable efforts have been focused on developing
new projects, building the project pipeline, and improving the operations of
the existing assets.

New wind farm project developments are now underway in Siziwang Qi of
West Inner Mongolia and Kulun Qi under Tongliao city of East Inner Mongolia.
Despite new regulations introduced in mid 2011 restricting project approvals,
provincial level project approval from the Inner Mongolia’s Development and
Reform Committee (“DRC”, or on national level, “NDRC”) for Siziwang Qi
(*SZWQ”") Phase Two project, which is the second phase of a strategic base
for the Group capable of developing into a 1000 mega-watt (“MW”) wind farm
complex, was secured in December. Preparation was underway and the site-
construction of this 49.5MW wind farm is expected to be commenced in
spring 2012. Work has also been initiated for the SZWQ Phase Three 200MW
wind farm project in this complex. On the Kulun Qi wind farm project, which
can be developed into a 200MW wind farm, two years of wind testing was
completed. Feasibility study report has been prepared and the work to secure
various local approvals leading to the final approval from the Inner Mongolia
DRC and NDRC is underway.

On developing the project pipeline, the Group has executed several
memoranda of understandings (“MOUs”) with the local government in
Yunnan, Hebei and other provinces. This will enable the Group to evaluate
the wind resources potential at these locations. Depending on the evaluation
outcome, the potential project pipeline could be expanded by a further 570
MW,

10
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The performance for the existing renewable energy assets, which comprise
several wind farms with a gross total power generating capacity of 610.5 MW
and a 25 MW waste-to-energy power plant, has been satisfactory with high
operation safety index and high availability. However, power dispatch from
these assets varies, subject to a range of external factors such as weather
conditions and transmission grid technical issues. For 2011, wind resources
in China were lowered than expected. Traded carbon emission reduction
prices from the Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM?”), part of the Kyoto
Protocol have been at historic low this year and this has affected the CDM
income of some of our assets. Enhancements on safety, reliability and
efficiency were made throughout the year to ensure these assets contribute
revenues to the Group.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power
capacity. Located in Heilongjiang province, the wind farms started commercial
operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Group is the majority shareholder,
holding 86% and 86.68% equity stakes, respectively. Unforeseen prolonged
curtailment on power dispatch due to transmission grid related technical
issues occurred in 2011 that led to a lower power dispatch around 57.01
million Kilowatt-hour (“KWh”). We have been in discussions with the relevant
authorities, and believe that with improved transmission infrastructure, there
will be significantly reduced curtailment over the near to medium term.

Siziwang Qi Phase | Wind Farm

Siziwang Qi Phase | wind farm has a total of 49.5 MW of wind power capacity
and is wholly-owned by the Group. It is located 16 kilometres (‘km”) north of
Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of West Inner Mongolia. Commercial operation
was started in January 2011. The wind farm is the first phase of a strategic
1,000 MW wind farm base for the Group. Siziwang Qi Phase | wind farm
dispatched 90.40 million KWh in 2011 with curtailment lower than the average
in the region.

Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the Danjinghe wind farm.
The majority and controlling shareholder is the wind division subsidiary of
China Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection Group (collectively,
“CECEP”), who holds 60%. The 200 MW Danjinghe wind farm is located
in Hebei province and consists of three phases. The wind farm started
commercial operation in January and September 2010. Despite abnormally
low wind in February and November, the power dispatched was around
392.78 million KWh in 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint venture with
CECEP. The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project company. The
201 MW wind farm started commercial operation in November 2010. The
power dispatched in 2011 was disappointing at 334.32 million KWh despite
good wind condition this year. Curtailment due to technical problems of a
newly developed 750KV transmission line in the region continues despite
the local grid company having put in significant efforts to restore the stability
of the transmission line. This situation is affecting all wind farms in the
locality and is expected to linger on until mid 2012 when other transmission
infrastructure will be ready to provide reinforcement.

Lunaobao Wind Farm

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP adjacent to the Danjinghe
wind farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity interest. The wind farm
capacity is 100.5 MW and has started commercial operation in February
2011. Unlike Danjinghe wind farm, the wind resources were not affected by
abnormal weather condition in 2011. The power dispatched in 2011 was
236.77 million KWh, which was significantly better than the projections in the
feasibility study.

Linyi Waste-to-energy Plant

Linyi waste-to-energy plant of 256MW power generating capacity is a joint
venture with CECEP located in Shandong province. The Group owns a
40% effective equity interest. The plant went into commercial operation in
September 2007. In 2011, approximately 337,000 tonnes of garbage was
being handled and 116.02 million KWh of power was dispatched.

Whilst the European sovereign debt crisis and a slow economic recovery in
the US will dampen the progress for renewable energy deployment in many
parts of the world, we are of the view that the global transition towards a
lower Carbon economy is inevitable and irreversible. In particular, China will
continue to lead such transition.

The “China Wind Energy Development Roadmap 2050, published by
NDRC in 2011 provided a very encouraging outlook for the wind power
growth projection. With just under 60GW installed capacity at end of 2011,
the roadmap projected that grid-connected installations by 2020 will be
at 200 giga-watt (“GW”) and at 400GW and 1,000GW in 2030 and 2050
respectively.
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Regarding carbon emission reduction, despite the traded CDM prices trading
at historic low this year, the outcome of the December 2011 UN Climate
Change Conference in Durban (“COP 17”), has shed some positive light for
the future. The major outcome included the formal adoption of the Green
Climate Fund as a new mechanism to facilitate public and private financing
of low carbon projects; and the extension of the Kyoto Protocol, including
the CDM, into a second commitment period (i.e. from 2013 to either 2017 or
2020). The long term carbon emission reduction trading prices were projected
significantly higher than the current level, which is comforting.

Under this industry landscape in China, the Group will steadily execute our
growth strategy in 2012, i.e. being a return-focused developer-investor-
operator in the renewable space in China and will focus in the wind sector
in this first horizon. Construction of the SZWQ Phase Two 49.5MW will
commence on site during the first quarter. At the same time, work has
been initiated to develop the SZWQ Phase Three 200MW on this site. With
economies of scale, it is expected the unit generation cost of this expanded
project will be substantially lower in the future. The Group plans to complete
the approval process for the Kulun Qi project during 2012 and commence
construction in 2013.

It is anticipated that grid connection and power dispatch curtailment will
continue to be challenging to wind farm operators in 2012 although significant
reinforcement and expansion of the transmission grid system would likely take
place in the near to medium term. Whilst we continue to build up our strategic
base in SZWQ, and paying particular attention to the interconnection and
dispatch curtailment issues, we are also expanding our foot-prints in other
provinces to diversify our portfolio and mitigate potential geographical risks.
The south-western provinces and Hebei represent regions with comparatively
less dispatch curtailment issues and also with potential good wind resources.
Considerable efforts are being made to build up strategic bases in these
regions similar to SZWQ in Inner Mongolia.

Liquidity has been a bottleneck for project financing as a whole in 2011 and it is
expected that there might be a slight reprieve in 2012. The Group is exploring
project financing options with various domestic and international banks to
seek best-available financing options for our projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CRE is still a young expanding company. Quality staff and a quality
management system are the lynchpin for ensuring CRE to stay as a high
performing company. We will continue to refine our management system
towards a meritocratic, single-point accountability culture, to high-grade
our staff by securing high-potential renewable energy professionals to join
our middle management and to maintain a market-oriented compensation
package.

Whilst the Group focuses at the wind sector during this first horizon, we will
monitor government policies carefully and will move into other renewable
energy business in a strategic and cautious manner. Every new project
however, must stand on its own with above hurdle-rate return on investment.
The Group will also evaluate strategic alliances opportunities as a way to
accelerate expansion of our platform and create shareholder value.

Employees

As at the end of December 2011, the Group’s operations in Hong Kong
and mainland China employed a total of 85 employees. The Group had also
appointed technical consultants on contract terms for its alternative energy
projects. All employees are remunerated according to the nature of their
jobs, their individual performances, the Group’s overall performance, and the
prevailing marketing conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate governance
principles and practices and its board of directors (the “Directors” or
the “Board”) recognizes that it is essential to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees and uphold accountability,
transparency and responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and recommended best practices set out
in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended
31 December 2011, save for the deviations with considered reasons stated in
the following relevant paragraphs.

Board Composition

The Company has during the year ended 31 December 2011 maintained
a balanced board. The Board currently comprises eight Directors with four
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. Each Director possesses expertise and experience and
provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group
and the shareholders as a whole. Biographical details of the Directors are set
out in pages 28 to 32 of the Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors was assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of them are independent.
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Corporate Governance Report

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and performed by different individuals.
Under the current organization structure of the Company, the functions of
CEO are performed by the Chairman, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from
the Vice Chairman, the Managing Director and the other Executive Director.
The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
and has been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and
facilitating the Company’s operation and business development. The Board
will review the structure from time to time to ensure it continues to meet the
principle and will consider segregation of the roles of chairman and CEO if
and when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs and formulating business strategies with a
view to maximizing its financial performance and shareholders’ value.

All newly appointed Directors are given comprehensive documentations
on the business operations of the Group and regulatory and statutory
requirements of directors, together with briefing meetings with senior
executives of the Group. Directors are provided with continuous updates
on the latest changes in the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other relevant laws and regulations and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their knowledge for
discharging directors’ responsibilities.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the
Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors of the Company and
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and
conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and
senior executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of various business units of the Group as a whole, coordinate overall
resources and make financial and operation decisions. The Board also gives
clear directions as to their powers of management including circumstances
where management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to
the needs of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors proposed
for re-election at the annual general meeting are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate
or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board
for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a summary of the work
performed by the Nomination Committee are set out under the heading of
“Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (“Articles of
Association”), one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation but are eligible for re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting provided that every Director
is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. New
appointments to the Board are also subject to re-election by shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed
for specific term and subject to re-election. Currently, all the existing
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed with
no specific term, but they are subject to the aforesaid rotation requirement
in the Articles of Association, accomplishing the same purpose as being
appointed for a specific term. The rotating Directors who are subject to
retirement and re-election at the 2012 annual general meeting are set out on
page 35.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas on
the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up five Board Committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Investment Committee and the Executive Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
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During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, FR @ EEE EZZE8T RELEZET - Hb
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Investment ZEE - REZEGRWNTZESG LRI Mg
Committee and the Executive Committee were held and the attendance of % ' RSEERZESHILBBEAEN TE ¢

the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in the table below:

Number of meetings attended/held
BHiEBTEEHA
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Executive
Board Committee Committee Committee = Committee  Committee

Exg EnZEg FHEES RBEEEE® REZEE JTEED

Executive Directors #{T# =

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric &I 5t 4 4/4 2/2 (Note KffsE) 1/1 (Note fitzF) 1/1 (Note [ffzX) 2/2 10/10
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie 3k 3 & %t 4 4/4 2/2 (Note Ff1zF) 1/1 (Note Bffs¥) 1/1 (Note [fizT) 2/2 10/10
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce R{H3& 1+ 4/4 2/2 (Note FitzE) 1/1 (Note FfizF) 1/1 (Note FfizE) 2/2 10/10
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 224538 %4 4/4 2/2 (Note HffsE) 1/1 (Note fftzF) 1/1 (Note [ffzY) 2/2 10/10

Non-executive Directors JEH{TEE
Mr. WANG Sing £ #t5t 4

(appointed on 8 June 2011)

(R=EF——FNANNAEZ(F) 2/3 0/1 N/A A~ A N/A A3 A 0N N/A T3 A
Mr. TSANG Chi Kin & Z=#25t4E

(alternate director to

Mr. WANG Sing)

(EMELEZELESE) 2/3 0/1 N/A T35 N/A i 171 N/ATRER
Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA

Tanguy Vincent SERRASE 4

(resigned on 8 June 2011)

(R=F——FNANNEFE) 1/1 11 N/A 7 i A N/A i 11 N/ATER

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYEHITES

Mr. ZHANG Songyi 5RE % o4 3/4 1/2 0/1 01 N/A N EF N/A N E A

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Erest B3Ik 55t 4 4/4 2/2 11 11 N/A NEF N/A AN

Mr. YU Hon To, David &1/&E 5t & 4/4 2/2 1/1 11 NATEA NATEA
Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees. Biet . BITEFUZHBEASG S HEEASH -
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Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board
papers are dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail on matters considered by the Board and the committees
and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors.
Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
All Directors have access to the company secretary, who is responsible for
ensuring that the board procedures are complied with and advising the Board
on compliance matters.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries, the Company has obtained
confirmation from all Directors that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December
2011.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the securities of the
Group, on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
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The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, comprises three members namely Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Erest and Mr. YU Hon To, David, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management, and reviewing their remuneration
packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration Committee
will consult with the Chairman and the CEO whenever it thinks fit and take
into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid by comparable
companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting and
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of Directors and the Directors’
fee of newly appointed Director. No Director was involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The attendance records of each member at the meeting of the
Committee are set out on page 18. Details of the Directors’ remuneration for
the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, comprises three members namely Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Emest and Mr. YU Hon To, David, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year and the attendance details of each member are set
out on page 18.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board, identifying suitable candidates for directorship,
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed appointment
or re-appointment.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination Committee includes

assessing the qualification and experience of new candidates for directorship
and making recommendation to the Board on such matter.
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The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference which have been updated from time to time to align with the Code
Provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely Mr.
ZHANG Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest, Mr. YU Hon To, David, who are
Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. WANG Sing, who is a Non-
executive Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter alia, review
and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management procedures, as well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting
and financial reporting resources.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings together with senior
management and external auditor. The attendance details of each member
are set out on page 18. The major work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year included reviewing interim and annual financial statements,
internal audit reports on the internal controls and risk management matters, as
well as reviewing and recommending re-appointment of external auditor.

The Company has established an Investment Committee with written terms
of reference. The Investment Committee, chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric,
comprises five members namely Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, Mr. CHANG Li Hsien,
Leslie, Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce, Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, who are
Executive Directors, and Mr. WANG Sing, who is a Non-executive Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Investment Committee are to, inter alia,
review and approve the Group’s material capital expenditures, monitor
the execution of the investment on an ongoing basis, review and approve
periodically policies and guidelines governing the Group’s investment
portfolio, and monitor compliance with those policies.

During the year, the Investment Committee held two meetings and the
attendance details of each member are set out on page 18. The major work
performed by the Investment Committee during the year included reviewing
potential wind-farm projects and made recommendation to the Board on
project investments.
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The Company has established an Executive Committee with the key initiatives
to manage the Group’s business activities, and monitor and oversee the
operating performance and financial position of the Group and all strategic
business units.

The Committee, chaired by the Chairman of the Board, comprises all
Executive Directors and an executive of the Group.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of various business units of the
Group as a whole, coordinated overall resources and made financial and
operation decisions delegated by the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the fees in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor amounted to
approximately HK$2,170,000 and HK$834,000 respectively. The non-
audit services mainly related to tax advisory services and corporate exercise
professional fee.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group has had in place an integrated framework of internal controls
which is consistent with the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) framework. Under the
framework, the management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal controls to manage risks while
the Board and its audit committee oversee the actions of the management
and monitor the effectiveness of the controls that have been put in place. The
framework and activities taken are illustrated below:

(" Control Environment
BRI

. Risk awareness and control consciousness are built into the culture of
the Group.

o RAEEMBEENRLEBRRBHRELZER o

. Channels to communicate the Company’s commitment to integrity and
high ethical standards to the staff are established.

o RUREMETEREARRHBHEFAGERDBRBIRT AR

. Organisation chart, limits of authority and responsibility are set and
communicated to staff concerned.

o RUMEREE - #H EREEEHE  YAERE TERLAES -

Risk Assessment
R BTG

. Identification, evaluation and assessment of the key risks affecting the
achievement of the Group’s objectives are conducted from time to time,
forming the basis for determining control activities.

o TEHEA - HERIRVEAKREERERIERAR - MERR
TEIEED 2 -

Control Activities

EEIEED

. Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried
out.

o FIEBRRRIER - WRELREZIETEABT -

e  Control activities include authorizations, approvals, performance
reviews, segregation of duties, asset security, access control,
documentation and records, etc.

o ENFEDHAERE - B RBRF  BERS  SERE  FEIE
B S RACER S -

Information and Communication

B REHR

. Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right
person in a timely manner.

o ERFER - B RMEE A TREERER

. Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties.

o BAKERIIAALELBEBRE -

Monitoring

BER >

. Onging assessment of control system’s performance.

o REFTRERHIEZRER -

. Management and supervisory activities.

o EBRREEE-

.

.

Internal audit activities.
s RHERED - J

N & B B & 3 8 COSO (the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission) 28 — Bz NP ESIEAR G 24 - IRIE

RS EREXZEBAR  BEIEFRRE
W THERESIRRE  MEZSRATZEESR
alg ﬁ%%ﬁﬁz TERERD R EEHE
KR o 2R R P EREUE e PR AT

S —

Effectiveness
and efficiency of
operations

EEREREE

Reliability of
financial reporting
HERZ

CIE 43

Compliance with
applicable laws
and regulations
BB AR A
b}
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Control Environment

The Group is a tightly-knit organization; the actions of management and its
demonstrated commitment to effective governance and controls are therefore
very transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all business affairs based
on good business ethics and accountability. We have in place a formal Code
of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated to all staff members.
We aim to build risk awareness and control responsibility into our culture and
regard them as the foundation of our internal control system.

No matter how well an internal control system is conceived and operated,
it is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance. Recognising this, we maintain an effective internal audit function,
the Internal Control and Risk Management (“ICRM”) Department, whose main
features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every operation of
the Group;

(i)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff; and

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks or
where significant changes have been made.

Risk management

The management has an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage
the risks faced by the Group. Each risk is rated in terms of probability of
occurrence and potential impact on performance, which serves as a basis
for better priority setting and resource allocation. Mitigation strategies and
plans with respect to each key risk identified are developed and implemented,
which include establishing or enhancing internal controls and procedures.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units also review and
analyse the key risks associated with achieving the objectives of their
particular departments, activities and businesses from time to time to provide
reasonable assurance that controls are both embedded and effective within
the business.
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The Board establishes and maintains a sound internal control system through
the following major processes:

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Systems and procedures are in place to identify and measure risks on
an ongoing basis. Senior management reviews and defines the risk
assessment process and monitor the progress of risk mitigation plans.

An organization structure with defined lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority is devised.

The Board reviews its strategic plans and objectives on an annual
basis.

Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances being
accounted for and appropriate actions are taken to rectify deficiencies.

Policies and procedures on key control activities are established to
ensure management directives are carried out.

Ranges of activities including approvals, authorization, verifications,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and
segregation of duties are identified and implemented.

The ICRM Department conducts independent reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and tests key
business processes and controls in accordance with its audit plan,
including following up the implementation of management actions. The
ICRM Department reports directly to the Audit Committee and the CEO
and has direct access to the Board through the Audit Committee.

EXEBEBTNINERERF  BURERAMZA
ERECFEHIE

(iii)

(V)

(vi)

(vil)
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Review of internal control effectiveness

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control system for the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The ICRM
Department reports on reviews of the business processes and control
activities, including action plans to address any identified control weaknesses.
The management evaluates and conducts assessments of the overall internal
control and risk management systems, with action plans to make further
improvement. External auditors also report on any control issues identified in
the course of their work. Taking these into consideration, the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system at least once
each year and reports to the Board on such reviews.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board considered
the internal control system effective and adequate. No significant areas of
concern that might affect the operational, financial, and compliance controls
and risk management function of the Group were identified. The scope of this
review covers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

Price-sensitive information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Group has performed the
following actions:

(i) Management and relevant personnel are made aware of the Group’s
obligations under the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that
information which is expected to be price-sensitive and/or the subject
of a major decision should be announced immediately.

(i) Management and relevant personnel are required to conduct the
Group’s affairs with close regard to the “Guide on Disclosure of Price-
sensitive Information” and “Recent Economic Developments and the
Disclosure Obligations of Listed Issuers” issued by the Stock Exchange
in 2002 and 2008 respectively.

(i) ~ The Group has established a Code for Securities Dealing applicable to
those employees likely to have access to unpublished price-sensitive
information.

(iv)  Members of the Group’s top management are identified and authorized

to act as the Group’s spokespersons and respond to external
enquiries.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing a set of financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 that gives a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results
and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have
adopted generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 56 to 57.

The Board believes regular and timely communication with shareholders
forms part of the Group’s effort to help our shareholders understand our
business better. Copies of the annual reports and interim reports of the
Company are distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties recorded in the
Company’s mailing lists. The publications of the Company, including financial
reports, circulars and announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website at www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good communication
channel with the shareholders. At the general meeting, each substantially
separate issue is considered by a separate resolution, including election
of individual directors, and the poll procedures are clearly explained. The
Chairman of the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant Board Committees and
the external auditor of the Company are available to attend the annual general
meeting to interface with and answer questions from the shareholders.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following ways:

Post:  9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road Tsimshatsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@cre987.com

Fax: (852) 2722 1323
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Directors and Management Executives

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 41, has been appointed as Executive Director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 10 April 2008.
He also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. OEl
was educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics
(with @ minor in Electrical Engineering), and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration. Earlier in his career, he worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd.
and PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey &
Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is currently an Executive Director of HKC
(Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the controlling shareholder of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also a director and a shareholder of Claudio
Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of HKC.

(Executive Director & Vice Chairman)

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie, aged 57, is an Executive Director and the Vice
Chairman of the Company since 1 September 2010. Since 1 September
2010, Mr. CHANG has been appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of HKC. He also serves as a director of certain members of
the Group.

Mr. CHANG was graduated from George Mason University in U.S.A., he
is a certified public accountant in the State of New York, a member of The
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. CHANG started his career at US Office of KPMG (formerly known as
KPMG Peat Marwick) (the “Firm”) and became a partner specializing in the
financial services industry. He was also the Firm’s director of Chinese Practice
in the United States. He then joined CITIC Pacific Ltd in 1994 and was an
Executive Director and the Deputy Managing Director of the company. He
also served as an alternate director on the board of Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited. Both CITIC Pacific Ltd and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHANG is also an independent non-executive director of Pou Sheng
International (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.
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(Executive Director & Managing Director)

Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce, aged 50, has been appointed as Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company since 4 September 2009. He
also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Reporting to
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, Dr. YUNG oversees
the operations of the Company, its subsidiaries and projects in the Mainland
China. Dr. YUNG is a veteran in the energy industry with over 25 years
working experience across Europe, Asia and in particular China during the
last 15 years. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. YUNG was the Vice President of
BP in China. Dr. YUNG has also held senior management positions in Entergy
Power Group (the IPP arm of Entergy Power Corporation) in China and British
Gas plc in the UK before joining BP. Dr. YUNG has a BSc (Hons) and a PhD
degree in Chemical Engineering from University of Birmingham and a MBA
from Henley Management College. He is a Corporate Member of the UK
Institution of Chemical Engineers and Institution of Gas Engineers; and is an
alumnus of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School
in the US.

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 48, has been appointed as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 1 December 2008.
He joined the Group in April 2008 as Qualified Accountant of the Company.
He also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Mr.
LEUNG is a certified practising accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. LEUNG
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business from RMIT University of Australia. He
has over 20 years’ experience in auditing and finance management with an
international audit firm and other major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and risk
management of HKC. He is currently also a director of certain subsidiaries of
HKC.
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(Non-executive Director)

Mr. WANG Sing, aged 48, has been appointed as Non-executive Director
of the Company since 8 June 2011. He is a partner of TPG (“TPG”), a
private equity investment firm, an affiliate of Star Butterfly Energy, Ltd. (“Star
Butterfly”), which has substantial interests in the preference shares of the
Company. Mr. WANG is the Co-Chairman of TPG Greater China and Head of
TPG Growth North Asia. Prior to joining TPG, Mr. WANG was Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director of TOM Group Limited. He spent seven years
at Goldman Sachs in both New York and Hong Kong in various positions
including Executive Director and Head of China High Technology in Hong
Kong. He was a founding member of the firm’s Asian private equity team and
headed their China Investment Projects. Before Goldman Sachs, he was a
Manager at HSBC Private Equity in Hong Kong and a strategic consultant
with McKinsey & Co., in Chicago, U.S.A.

Mr. WANG graduated from Yunnan University, China with a Bachelor degree
in Science and holds a Master of Science degree in forestry and its relation to
land use, a Master and a Bachelor of Arts degree in philosophy, politics and
economics from Oxford University. He is currently director of MIE Holdings
Corporation (“MI Energy”) (listed on the Stock Exchange); and China Vogue
Casualwear (“China Vogue”). He was previously a director of NT Pharma
(Holdings) Company Limited (“NT Pharma”) and Yunnan Red. He is also the
Chairman of Amerinvest Group of Companies and a Standing Committee
Member of the 10th Yunnan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. WANG is a Listing Committee member
of the Stock Exchange.
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(alternate director to Mr. WANG Sing)

Mr. TSANG Chi Kin, aged 46, is an operating partner of TPG. He joined TPG
Growth as an Operating Partner in 2007 and leads portfolio management for
TPG Growth’s North Asia investments, notably the group’s investments in
ShangPharma Corporation, MI Energy, NT Pharma and China Vogue. Prior
to joining TPG, Mr. TSANG was with Australian Capital Equity (“ACE”) since
2000, both in their London and Beijing offices. He was the Managing Director
of China who oversaw the group’s investment activities in the region and
also served as the Managing Director of the WesTrac China dealership. Mr.
TSANG also served as Chairman of the Caterpillar China Dealers’ Association.

Before joining ACE, Mr. TSANG worked for The Walt Disney Company from
1994 to 2000. During that time, he was the Director of Business Planning
and Development of Asia-Pacific for Walt Disney Imagineering, the theme
park and real estate division of Disney, where he initiated and shepherded
the Hong Kong Disneyland deal to its completion. Prior to his time at Disney,
Mr. TSANG worked at The Boston Consulting Group in Asia-Pacific and at
Citibank in the U.S.

Mr. TSANG holds an MBA in Management and Marketing from Northwestern
University, and a BS in Operations Research & Industrial Engineering from
Cornell University. Mr. TSANG is an active member and the Treasurer of the
China Venture Capital and Private Equity Association and also the inaugural
President of its Young Venture Capitalist Club. He is also serving on the
Executive Committee of the Hong Kong Venture Capital and Private Equity
Association and also on the HKTDC Financial Services Advisory Committee.

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 56, has been appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in senior management
and advisory capacities in several companies, including acting as the
chairman of Mandra Capital, a senior advisor of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited,
a director of SINA Corporation which is a company listed on the NASDAQ
Stock Market. Mr. ZHANG is currently an independent non-executive director
of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited, the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive director of China
Lumena New Materials Corp., the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and a director of Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, in the last three years.
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(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest, aged 61 has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. TANG is a solicitor in private practice and at
present a partner and a consultant of two law firms respectively. Mr. TANG
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of
Laws and is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and Australia. He is
also a China Appointed Attesting Officer by the Ministry of Justice of China.

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 63, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a
Bachelor of Social Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr.
YU was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm with extensive
experience in corporate finance. He is the Vice Chairman of MCL Partners
Limited, a Hong Kong-based financial advisory and investment firm.

Mr. YU is currently an independent non-executive director of TeleEye Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 8051) as well as the following companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, namely China Datang Corporation Renewable Power
Co., Limited (stock code: 1798), Sateri Holdings Limited (stock code: 1768),
Great China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141), Haier Electronics Group Co.,
Limited (stock code: 1169), Media Chinese International Limited (which is also
listed in Malaysia; Hong Kong stock code: 685, Malaysia stock code: 5090),
One Media Group Limited (stock code: 426), Playmates Holdings Limited
(stock code: 635), Synergis Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340), and VXL
Capital Limited (stock code: 727).
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Report of the Directors

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in presenting to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are alternative energy business and software development
business. The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associated companies
are set out in pages 139 to 142 of the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2011 by geographical and business segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 58 to 59.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).
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Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements in the share capital, convertible preference shares
and warrants of the Company during the year are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and there is no restriction against
such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2011, calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (as revised),
amounted to HK$1,346.47 million (2010: HK$1,189.87 million).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 143 to 144.

During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2010:
Nil).
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Report of the Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie (Vice Chairman)

Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce (Managing Director)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

Non-executive Directors
Mr. WANG Sing

(appointed on 8 June 2011)
Mr. TSANG Chi Kin

(alternate director to Mr. WANG Sing)
Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA

(resigned on 8 June 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Songyi

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest

Mr. YU Hon To, David

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), Dr.
YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce, Mr. ZHANG Songyi and Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Emest
will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article 85 of the Articles
of Association and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election to
serve for another term. Further, Mr. WANG Sing who was newly appointed
by the Board on 8 June 2011, will also retire from office in accordance with
Article 84 of the Articles of Association and will offer himself for re-election as
director of the Company.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company
considers all of them to be independent.
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Report of the Directors

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with

the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the

Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Share options of the Company:

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “CRE Option Scheme”)
was adopted on 27 May 2008. Particulars of the CRE Option Scheme are set
out below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

36

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to
recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the
growth of the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with
opportunities to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to
further motivate and give incentives to these Eligible Persons to
continue to contribute to the long term success and prosperity of the
Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive director) or consultant of any members of the Group
or any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the CRE Option Scheme is 63,103,475 shares which represent 2.68%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in
any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate
value.

Period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on which it is
granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time of
grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of ten business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of
an option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share.
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Share Option Schemes (continued)

(i) Remaining life (i)
CRE Option Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 27 May
2018 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the
CRE Option Scheme.

Movements of share options granted under the CRE Option Scheme during
the year are as follows:

Number of share options

BRESA

Outstanding at
Nature of 1 January
interest 2011

Outstanding at
Cancelled/ 31 December
Lapsed 2011

Name of

Directors Granted Exercised
R=g--%

-B-H

HARTHRE

RZB--F
+zB=t-A
MR

BHEH XX

e

Date of grant

Exercise period

RER - RETEBERRBRETSEREE
Pt SBFHBMT

Exercise

price

per share

(HKS)

BRITHEE
(&7

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, ~ Personal 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 0570
Leslie A “E-ZFNA-A 31 August 2013
RUBLE “Z——fnA-AZE
—Z-=F\A=1-A
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 0.570
—T-FFNA-H 31 August 2014 (Note 1)
“Z-ZFNA-RE
“Z-mENA=T-R
(MH1)
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 0.570
—T-FFNA-H 31 August 2015 (Note 1)
—T-=FHhA-BZ
“E-aF\A=1-H
(M)
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, ~ Personal 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Bruce HA —Z-Z§-A=1A 19 January 2013
AfnEt ZE—§-fA=fRZE
“Z-=5-AthA
1,650,000 - - - 1,650,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0.764
“Z-ZE-f-1H 19 January 2014 (Note 1)
ZZ--f-A=1RZE
e N
(iGa))
2,750,000 - - - 2,750,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 0.764
“Z-ZE-f-1H 19 January 2015 (Note 1)
i S =k
ZZ-85-AThE
(iGa))

38



TEBLERRREGRAT —T——FF®
Report of the Directors E=&#&E

- D
Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRESTE @)
Number of share options
BREYE
Outstanding at Outstanding at Exercise
Name of Nature of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December price
Directors interest 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2011  Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HKS)
R=B-—-% H=g--%
-A-H +=A=t+-H
WA 7 B/ &N AT f BRTRE
(#7)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum,  Personal 550,000 - - = 550,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Samuel A = 19 January 2013
P ZE—§-fA=fRZE
“Z-=5-AthA
825,000 - - - 825,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0.764
“Z-ZE-f-1H 19 January 2014 (Note 1)
“Z--5-A-tH%
ZZ-WME-ATHA
(iGa))
1,375,000 - - - 1,375,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 0.764
“Z-ZE-f-1H 19 January 2015 (Note 1)
ZZ-=f-A=1RZE
—Z-R5-AthA
(iGa))
Total 43 13,250,000 - - - 13,250,000
Notes: Mt

1. The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the 1. JEIRIERFEREFESHTHAE A IRE L
performance target as determined by the Board. BRA T -

2. Save as disclosed above, no share options were held by other participants at the 2. B LEXBEEEIN REEZE=—F——F+=H

beginning and at the end of the year ended 31 December 2011 under the CRE =T —HIFFAIRER - HAERMBDEA TR
Option Scheme. o B A BB IR 1B AT 2175 B TR AR FE -

No share option was granted to the Directors, exercised, cancelled nor REBEZT——F+-A=1+—HIFE ' BE&
lapsed by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2011 under the BB ARERERETS - MEREETR L IR
CRE Option Scheme. BRI - IMEE R - EEERER S HRK -
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Share options of associated corporation of the Company:

The existing share option scheme of HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “HKC
Option Scheme”) was adopted on 16 June 2006. Particulars of the HKC
Option Scheme are set out below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

40

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the HKC and its subsidiaries (the “HKC Group”) or any
entity in which any member of the HKC Group holds an equity interest
(“Invested Entity”) or Invested Entities, to recognise the significant
contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of the HKC Group
or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
ownership interest in HKC and to further motivate and give incentives
to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the long term
success and prosperity of the HKC Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including independent non-executive director) or
consultant of any members of the HKC Group or any Invested Entity
who, in the sole discretion of the HKC board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the HKC Group or any
Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares of HKC available for issue under the HKC
Option Scheme is 674,662,383 shares which represent approximately
6.23% of the issued share capital of the HKC as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
The total number of shares of HKC issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in any
12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of HKC
in issue;

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of HKC must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of HKC in
issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on which it is
granted or such shorter period as the board of HKC may specify at the
time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the board of HKC must specify
the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of
an option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in daily quotations sheet on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of a share.

Remaining life

The HKC Option Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 16
June 2016 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the HKC Option Scheme.

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)
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Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRESTE @)
Movements of share options granted to the Directors under the HKC Option ~ RAF A - RIEFBHERIERETEIMEFTR L2
Scheme during the year are as follows: BIRESBFIEOT
Number of share options
BREYA
Outstanding at Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December price
Name of Directors interest 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HKS)
R=B-—-F
—5-7 B
HARTHR BitH/ A% f1 f fTfE
(B7)
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Personal 680,625 - - - 680,625 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1.174
BRl%E fHA ZETSETZATRAR 14 December 2016

“ETtETZAtERR
“Z2-’E+-ATMA

1,134,375 - - - 1,134,375 15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174
ZEETRETZATRA 14 December 2016
“$TN\F+-A1ERE
—E-AF+ZATEA

363,000 - - - 363,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
—“2Z\§=f-A 31 January 2018
“EENE_A-HE
“Z-\§—A=1+-R
544,500 - - - 544,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
—TF\E-A-H 31 January 2018
—E-TF-f-AZ
“Z-\#-A=t+-H
907,500 - - - 907,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“EZ/\§-A-A 31 January 2018
“E——%-f-H%
Z-\§5-A=t-H
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Share Option Schemes (Continued) | )

Number of share options

Outstanding at

Nature of 1 January

Name of Directors interest 2011

R=2--%

-B-H

L ed] HARITHRE

Famiy 680,625
Kk

1,134,375

363,000

544,500

907,500

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, ~ Personal 6,000,000
Leslie A

RUBLE
9,000,000
15,000,000

Granted

BREE

Exercised

Cancelled/
Lapsed

Outstanding at
31 December
2011

680,625

1,134,375

363,000

544,500

907,500

6,000,000

9,000,000

15,000,000

Date of grant

15 December 2006
2R EtZATRR

15 December 2006
ZEERETZATERA

1 February 2008
“ZZ\EZA-H

1 February 2008
—ZZ/\§-A-H

1 February 2008
“ZZ\EZA-H

1 September 2010
—Z-FFENA-H

1 September 2010
“Z-ZFNA-A

1 September 2010
“Z-Z5NA-H

Exercise period

15 December 2007 to
14 December 2016
“EELET-ATRAZR
- \FTZATHA

15 December 2008 to
14 December 2016
ZET\E+ZATRAZ
ZZ-ETZATEA

1 February 2009 to
31 January 2018
“2ZNF-f-HE
ZZ-\§-A=t-H

1 February 2010 to
31 January 2018
“5-%4-f-HZE
ZZ-\¥-A=t-H

1 February 2011 to
31 January 2018
—F——f-f-B%
“Z-\#-A=1-H

1 September 2011 to
31 August 2013
—F——EnA-BZ
—Z-=f\A=1+-A

1 September 2012 to
31 August 2014 (Note)
“E-ZEnf-pZ
“T-MENA=T-A
(Bizt)

1 September 2013 to
31 August 2015 (Note)
“E-=fhA-RE
Z-aFN\A=T-H
(FitzE)

Exercise
price

per share
(HKS)

Bk
fTiEE

(#7)

1174

1174

1.368

1.368

1.368

0.488

0.488

0.488
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Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRESTE @)
Number of share options
BREXAE
Outstanding at Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December price
Name of Directors interest 2011 Granted Exercised Lapsed Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HKS)
R=Z--%
—B-% B
REtE HARITHRE Gyid]
(#7)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum,  Personal 1,452,000 - - - 1,452,000 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1174
Samuel faA —“2EET-AtRA 14 December 2016
REREE “EELET-ATRAZR

2 \FTZATHA

2,420,000 - - - 2,420,000 15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174
ZEEAETZATRR 14 December 2016
“EZ\Ft-AtRRZ
ZZ-AETZATEA

484,000 - - - 484,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
“TT)\EZA-H 31 January 2018
“ZTNF-A-RZE
—Z-\§-A=1-H
726,000 - - - 726,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
“E3\E-A-H 31 January 2018
“E-FFCA-RE
ZZ-\¥-R=t-H
1,210,000 - - - 1,210,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“ZZ\EZA-H 31 January 2018
—Z——f-f-B%
“Z-\#-A=1-R
Total#&:t 43,552,000 - - - 43,552,000

Note: The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the Mt : FEREAFZEZ B BEEREFSHTHFEH
performance target as determined by the board of directors of HKC. 1B1E T 1857 B R Al 1T °

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted to the Directors, PR EXHBEEIN - REBEEZFT——F +=A
exercised, cancelled nor lapsed by the Directors during the year ended 31 =+—HIEFE - RIFE SRR ERERT B - 8

December 2011 under the HKC Option Scheme. EEAESERHAMERE  TMEESRTE - 38
PR S H R -
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At 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors RZ-T——F+_A=+—H  F=EENARQF
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and ~ EZ1THA ERA R m s HAAHEEE (EER
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the &% R EAE &HI([ FH LHIE &A1) ) BXVE 2 &
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as 17 ~ MR REFTHEEELRESF MEK
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or  BIE3E2{EREFEMERLM 2R KIAR R
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to  #EZNA BIEE4N 2 LR RIS 8+ Frdl E 21T A
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the ~ EEETHEFR HMIRESFA(MFELESFA] D RE
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the  EAE AN REFRFT 2 Em AR ¢
Company were as follows:

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate! 1,783,092,776 75.671
EMISEAE NGIL
Personal? 2,175,086 0.092
& A2
Joint? 24,724,353 1.049
H[Fs
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie Personal 5,000,000 0.212
RZBRE NS
Joints 570,000 0.024
H[Fe
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce Personal® 5,500,000 0.233
Ak E+ & Ae
Joint” 440,000 0.019
R
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Personal® 2,750,000 0.117
REGRFE &l Ae
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Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes:

Since as at 31 December 2011, HKC was held as to approximately
89.99% by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) (via its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) and Genesis Capital
Group Limited (“Genesis”)), a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia
Lau, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
shares of the Company in which HKC is interested. The corporate interest
of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric includes (i) an interest in 1,275,540,924 shares of
the Company held by HKC; (i) an interest in a zero coupon convertible
note issued by the Company to HKC with a principal amount of RMB73.5
million carrying rights to convert into 82,126,965 shares of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share (subject to adjustment); (i)
an interest in 149,358,990 shares of the Company held by Creator; and (iv)
an interest in 276,065,897 shares of the Company held by Genesis.

The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
2,175,086 shares of the Company.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
24,724,353 shares of the Company jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEl
Valonia Lau.

The personal interest of M. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 5,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by the
Company as detailed in “Share options of the Company” section above.

The joint interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest in
570,000 shares of the Company jointly held with his wife, Ms. WU Tung.

The personal interest of Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce represents an
interest in 5,500,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by the Company as detailed in “Share options of the Company” section
above.

The joint interest of Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce represents an interest in
440,000 shares of the Company jointly held with his wife.

The personal interest of Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel represents an
interest in 2,750,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by the Company as detailed in “Share options of the Company” section
above.

@

RAERARGREABRD Z2HFR

_—
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R-F——F+—_A=+—A #R
Z & ## #% 1 Claudio Holdings Limited
([Claudio ) # % #739.99% (i B HE 2 &
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ZRIFEEFRLA([#E)))) - fiClaudio
BERELERFEZ ZFEZEL L5 FE
FE0% - M EMELWHEABREBEZER
HEER R —HARGR D PHEEE
a5 o BRI T 2 Al B () BB E R
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172w ©
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (continued) EENRSF2ER @)
(ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying (i) RAEQABEEEZERGORERARGZ
shares of associated corporation of the e
Company:
Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued
Name of shares of share capital of
associated the associated the associated
corporation Name of Directors Nature of interest corporation corporation
EEESEERE
HEESEEZRAR ERITRAE
HEEEER HERHGHE BHED
HKC Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate’ 4,332,779,008 39.994
EBER =L AGIL
Personal? 20,897,310 0.193
EYNE
Joint? 117,952,078 1.089
H[Fs
Family+ 3,630,000 0.034
ENI 3
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie Personal® 30,000,000 0.277
RZBRAE EN
Jointé 10,000,000 0.092
HRe
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Personal” 6,292,000 0.058
REIRTE EVN

a7



CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Report of the Directors

(ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the
Company: (Continued)

Notes:

1.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest
in 1,487,280,532 shares of HKC held by Creator, and an interest in
2,845,498,476 shares of HKC held by Genesis. Creator and Genesis are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio, a company owned as to 50% by
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEl
Valonia Lau.

The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
17,267,310 shares of HKC and an interest in 3,630,000 underlying shares
in respect of options granted by HKC as detailed in “Share options of
associated corporation of the Company” section above.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
117,952,078 shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia
Lau.

The family interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in 3,630,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by HKC to Mrs. OEl
Valonia Lau as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the
Company” section above.

The personal interest of M. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 80,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by HKC
as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the Company”
section above.

The joint interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest in
70,000,000 shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Ms. WU Tung.

The personal interest of Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel represents an
interest in 6,292,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by HKC as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the
Company” section above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company held any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
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(ii)
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Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that enabled the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie are executive directors
of HKC and Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel is director of certain subsidiaries
of HKC. One of the business activities of the HKC Group is alternative energy
business in the PRC.

Mr. YU Hon To, David is an independent non-executive director of China
Datang Corporation Renewable Power Company Limited which is engaged in
alternative energy business.

Mr. WANG Sing is a partner of TPG. TPG has an interest in Comtec Solar
Systems Group Limited (Stock Code: 712) which is engaged in alternative
energy business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective associate(s)
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party Transactions” in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statement, no contract of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in FERRNZTELE R
Securities

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons (other than a Director or chief HRZT——F+=A=+—H8 ' U TAT(EEK
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and AR & FEZTHA BRIN AR B2 it & A8 7
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be A& 1D R #EH E 2N FH LK HIE 15015 336 {54 E 7
kept under section 336 of the SFO: EMECM o ERIKE

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares RAQATRBREBROZEE
of the Company

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

and underlying the existing issued

shares of share capital of

Nature of interest the Company the Company

ERDERE

AT RG R ERITRAE

HERGEE BAEDL

HKC Beneficial owner? 1,357,667,889 57.617

BRER BE=BEAAN

Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family2 1,809,992,215 76.813
RELz+ ENi-

Claudio Corporate? 1,783,092,776 75.671
AT

Genesis Corporate* 276,065,897 11.716
g NS

Creator Corporates 149,358,990 6.339
BliZ NIE

Mr. David BONDERMAN Corporates 560,000,000 23.765
David BONDERMANZ%E 4 NGIE

Mr. James G. COULTER Corporatest 560,000,000 23.765
James G. COULTERY A YNGIY

Tarrant Capital Advisors, Inc. Corporates 560,000,000 23.765
AL

Tarrant Advisors, Inc. Corporatet 560,000,000 23.765
ATe
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in FERRARBE R @)
Securities (Continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares RARXRRHG R IEER G 2F - (&)
of the Company (continued)

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

and underlying the existing issued

shares of share capital of

Nature of interest the Company the Company

HAEARRE

b NG |17 953 EETRAE

MR EE BABFDHE

TPG Ventures Professionals, LP. Corporates 560,000,000 23.765
NN

TPG Ventures Partners, LP. Corporatet 560,000,000 23.765
DTS

TPG Ventures Holdings, LLC Corporatesd 560,000,000 23.765
NN

TPG Star Advisors, LLC Corporatet 560,000,000 23.765
DA

TPG STAR GenPar. LP. Corporates 560,000,000 23.765
NI

TPG STAR. LP. Corporatet 560,000,000 23.765
NGl

STAR Butterfly Energy, Ltd Corporate® 560,000,000 23.765
NI
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (continued)

Notes:

The beneficial interest of HKC includes (i) an interest in 1,275,540,924 shares
of the Company held by HKC; and (i) an interest in a zero coupon convertible
note issued by the Company to HKC with a principal amount of RMB73.5
million carrying rights to convert into 82,126,965 shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share (subject to adjustment).

Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of
the Company in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested (as detailed in
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” section above).

Claudio is beneficially interested in 39.99% of the issued share capital of HKC (via
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and thus, is deemed to be
interested in the same parcel of shares and underlying shares of the Company in
which HKC is interested. In addition, as Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Claudio, and thus, Claudio is deemed to be interested in the same
parcel of shares of the Company in which Creator and Genesis are interested.

The corporate interest of Genesis includes an interest in 276,065,897 shares of
the Company.

The corporate interest of Creator includes an interest in 149,358,990 shares of
the Company.

The corporate interest includes an interest in 300,000,000 non-voting convertible
preference shares of the Company carrying rights to convert into shares of the
Company at the initial conversion rate of 1 preference share to 1 share (subject
to adjustment) (“Preference Shares”) held by STAR Butterfly Energy, Ltd (“STAR’);
and a capital commitment right to require the Company to issue to STAR or its
affiliate up to a maximum of 260,000,000 additional Preference Shares (subject
to adjustment) at a price of HK$0.75 per additional Preference Share.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2011, the Company had not
been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief executive of the
Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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The Company has provided guarantee in favour of China Construction
Bank up to RMB24 million of the principal advanced by China Construction
Bank to Fe B s R AR A Fl(Linyi National Environmental New Energy
Company Limited) (“Linyi”) together with all interests and other liabilities
accrued thereon, representing 40% of the unsecured liabilities of Linyi under
the facility granted by China Construction Bank to Linyi. Linyi is a Sino-foreign
equity joint venture enterprise established in the PRC owned as to 40% by
the Group.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has provided financial assistance to,
and guarantee for, affiiated companies (including Linyi) in aggregate amount
of HK$1,284.26 million, which represented approximately 47% of the Group’s
total assets value as at 31 December 2011.

In accordance with the requirement under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules,
the pro forma combined balance sheet of the affiliated companies and the
Group’s attributable interests in the affiliated companies based on their latest
financial statements available are presented below:

RABIE P RELRITHERTRIRMERER
2El(TERIT]) 2 2 A& &% AR 24,000,000
T ERBERT AR R EMEEEER
BT AR BRI TRER T TR H R S 5E I8 &
ERAEI0%)  UPEREBITAZ I AIREE
R BTARTPEKIZPIEGESERE A
AEBFEHI0%EL

i

—E——9+-A=+—8 AEEEZHH
BRA(BERMREMEEDRER 6415
$1,284,260,000%&7C * HERASBER =T ——
FH+ZA=+—RAZEEBELNLTS -

0

RIBETRBNF1B2216 2R F - BMBLRARZHES
AHEERBERMBBESIHRMBHRRGFELZ
REERIEZBBRRED 20T

Assets BE 6,938.7 2,656.6
Liabilities afE (4,077.3) (1,557.9)
Net assets BEFE 2,861.4 1,098.7

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions” in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

iR BSR4 BB T R 5 | —Hi P ER
EFH  RRRRFRAEET K] B I BRAA
RAIEMAEMEABNDEB 2 ERRITRAL
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The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year attributable
to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

11%
26%

The largest supplier
Five largest suppliers in aggregate

During the year, the Group had two customers only and the percentages of

the Group’s sales attributable to the major customers are as follows:

54%
46%

The largest customer
The remaining customers

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s customers
noted above.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended 31 December
2011.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 15 to 27.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Group are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings by Employees
has also been adopted in this regard.

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

The audit committee of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and one non-executive Directors with written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules,
and reports to the Board. The audit committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Messrs.
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
AGM.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no change in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2011 Interim Report.

On behalf of the Board
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
OEI Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 58 to 142 which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888 Fax : +852 2810 9888
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_Z——F+_A=+—HILFE

2010
—T-TF
Note HK$'000
BiaE FAT
Continuing operations BERSEER
Revenue &= 5 89,897 17,897
Cost of sales SHER A 6 (78,935) (15,306)
Gross profit EF 10,962 2,591
Other income HAbA 7 3,848 =
Administrative expenses THEA 6 (65,588) (52,489)
Provision for impairment losses BB EEE 8 (42,912) =
Operating loss KeEEE (93,690) (49,898)
Finance income IS 9 2,393 662
Finance costs BhE AN 9 (49,716) (10,852)
Finance costs — net BhERK A —FE 9 (47,323) (10,190)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over — PrUtiE &R E 2 A EBE
cost of acquisition (including both arising from WEER AN (BIER BB AR K&
subsidiaries and associated companies) BN &) 2 8EE 36 - 386,553
Fair value gain on derivative liability METAREEZ ATFERS 69,320 17,018
Share of profits less losses of associated FE(LE N R m A RUET 18
companies 20 67,376 21,750
(Loss)/profit before income tax Fria®ial (&E), #F (4,317) 365,233
Income tax credit/(expense) Fsfise, (Ax) 12 12,369 (25,399)
Profit for the year from continuing operations R HiFEKE £ 2 R FERER 8,052 339,834
Discontinued operations EARIEREEK
Loss for the year from discontinued operations R E B4R IF KL%
REFERE 37 (3,486) (4,510)
Profit for the year REE R 4,566 335,324
Other comprehensive income: Hib2EUWA :
Currency translation differences PEH e =% 70,148 53,396
Other comprehensive income for the year, ZXNEEFEHMBEWA - HIBRHIE
net of tax 70,148 53,396
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZHKRAELLE 74,714 388,720
Profit/(loss) attributable to: T EGERL(BR)
Equity holders of the Company AARIRRIERFEF A
— Continuing operations —RFECEETS 16,682 340,821
- Discontinued operations — BRI EETR (3,486) (4,510)
13,196 336,311
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR i A (8,630) (987)
4,566 335,324
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+_A=+—HILFE

2010
—T-TF
Note HK$’'000
FiaE FAET
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) DT EAEEWA(BR) &5 :
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company AARREERIFEA
— Continuing operations —FHEIRE T 393,109
— Discontinued operations — BRI E R (4,149
388,960
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR M R (240)
388,720
Dividends BE 15 -
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing and <A )RR EHE AW
discontinued operations attributable to REFESERDRILEE
equity holders of the Company ¥BBRER(FHE)
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AERAEWLIIR)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREREF(&E) 14(a)
From continuing operations REBECLER 40.20
From discontinued operations RE DKL EFER (0.53)
39.67
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SERBERR(&8) 14(b)
From continuing operations REFHEKEER 23.40
From discontinued operations REDKRIEEEER (0.31)
23.09
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Consolidated
Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2011 R-ZZ——F+_A=+—H

2010
—T-TF
Note HK$’000
BisE T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FkREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B NRE 16 984,333 509,067
Construction in progress EEIR 17 47,851 501,515
Prepaid land lease payments B LR E F0E 18 18,057 17,032
Intangible assets M EE 19 144,601 191,895
Interests in associated companies REEE RN E) 2 B 20 1,098,713 1,011,962
Total non-current assets FRBEEAE 2,293,555 2,231,471
Current assets RBEE
Inventory FE 7,062 6,091
Trade and other receivables JFEE LR SRR e L A B MR 22 113,076 160,599
Restricted cash SRR #I3H & 23 1,002 957
Cash and cash equivalents REREEEEY 24 338,751 362,555
459,891 530,202
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale  EBFEMEEANEE 37 4,651 -
Total current assets REEEAE 464,542 530,202
Total assets BEHAE 2,758,097 2,761,673
EQUITY xR
Capital and reserves attributable to equity &2 B RS IFH AEERE
holders of the Company R#E
Share capital [N 25 26,564 25,422
Reserves i 26 1,765,718 1,631,945
Equity attributable to equity holders of AATRRERITE ABGER
the Company 1,792,282 1,657,367
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R 15,209 23,680
Total equity A 1,807,491 1,681,047
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank borrowings RITEK 27 618,334 660,560
Convertible note AR E 28 - 78,287
Deferred income tax liabilities BELEEHARE 30 66,319 76,894
Total non-current liabilities FREBERAE 684,653 815,741
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2011 R-Z——F+-A=+—H

2010
—ZT-TF
Note HK$’000
BiaE FHT
Current liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables FEATBR 3R R H At A 3% 32 105,596 104,151
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary R —ER AW B AR FKIA 29 - 20,125
Derivative liability PTEIREAE 31 9,370 75,500
Current portion of bank borrowings RITIE BN 27 70,349 65,109
Convertible note Al AR E LS 28 80,636 -
265,951 264,885

Liabilities of disposal group classified as held BEGENREEANEE
for sale 37 2 -
Total current liabilities REEEEE 265,953 264,885
Total liabilities EEHE 950,606 1,080,626
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAR 2,758,097 2,761,673
Net current assets REEERE 198,589 265,317
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRABERE 2,492,144 2,496,788

OEI Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
= PR
Director Director
EF EE
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As at 31 December 2011 R-ZZ——F+_A=+—H

2010
—E—TF
Note HK$’000
BisE T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FkREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RSB AR 2w 21 21,518
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H A FEIGR 22 328
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURKT B A R F AR 21 1,261,044
Cash and cash equivalents BENBEEEEY 24 307,281
Total current assets REBEELE 1,568,653
Total assets EEHAE 1,590,171
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to equity = AT RFEERIZTEA
holders of the Company BERARFE
Share capital R A 25 25,422
Reserves & 26 1,189,865
Total equity SRR 1,215,287
LIABILITIES a5
Non-current liabilities EREBERS
Convertible note BRI ES 28 78,287
Deferred income tax liability RIEFTSHBE 30 87
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEREE 79,074
Current liabilities RBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIBT B A R FIE 21 215,714
Derivative liability TETAEBE 31 75,500
Other payables HAFER R 32 4,596
Convertible note AT AR R iR 28 =
Total current liabilities BB EALE 295,810
Total liabilities =NEEto 374,884
Total equity and liabilities ERRBEEEE 1,590,171
Net current assets REBEERE 1,272,843
Total assets less current liabilities EELZBERABAER 1,294,361
OEI Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
=R/ RER
Director Director
EE3 EE1
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Consolidated Statement of
Changes In Equity
mEEREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_Z——F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KARRFREEARL

Share
capital

B
HK$000

Share
premium

RipaE
HKS$'000

Exchange compensation

reserve

ERfif
HK$'000
TEL

Employee
share-based
Other
reserve reserves
EERH
HERE
HK$'000

Hfbfifs
HK$'000
TEL

Retained
earnings

REEH
HKS$'000
TER

Total

ag
HKS$000
TEL

Non-
controlling
interests

FERER
HKS000
TERL

Total
equity

v
HKS$000
TEL

Balance at 1 January 2010 WZE-F5-F-H
e 7,726 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 307,014 - 307,014
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEEH/ (B8) - = = = - 3331 336,311 (87) 335324
Other comprehensive income ~ EA12EKA
Currency tranglation differences ~ ERAEEE - - 52,649 = = = 52,649 747 53,396
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EKALE = = 52,649 - - 336,311 388,960 (240) 388,720
Transactions with owners RBEEAZRS
Employee share options benefts (& & B AkERF - - - 1,631 - - 1,631 - 1,631
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEHBAR - - - - - = = 23,020 23,920
Reversal of deferred tax iabiities ~ BEIEAAREHERH
related to equity component of BB ZEEREAE
convertible note - - - - 376 - 376 - 376
Issue of convertible preference  Z/TAIRRERR
shares 16,852 940,550 - - - - 957,402 - 957,402
Issue of bonus shares BIR 7 {7 = = - = = = =
Exercise of bonus warrants TRALA R R 67 1917 = = = = 1984 - 1,984
Balance at 31 December 2010 R=E-F£+-F
=t-B&H% 25422 944,491 53,766 1631 6,261 625796 1,657,367 23680 1,681,047
Balance at 1 January 2011 W-F-—%-F—-H
fei3 25,422 944,491 53,766 1,631 6,261 625,796 1,657,367 23,680 1,681,047
Profit/(loss) for the year REERH/ (BB - - - - - 13,196 13,19 (8,630) 4,566
Other comprehensive income ~ Eft2EMWA
Currency translation differences ~ E R AEZES - - 69,989 - - - 69,989 159 70,148
Total comprehensive income ~ 2E KA A% - - 69,089 - - 13,196 83,185 847) 74,714
Employee share option benefts (& B BIRIERF| - - - 1574 - - 1574 - 1574
Exercise of bonus warrants TR EE 1,142 49,014 - - - - 50,156 - 50,156
Balance at 31 December 2011 R=Z—-—%+=f
=t-H&8 26,564 993,505 123,755 3,205 6,261 638,992 1,792,282 15,209 1,807,491
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Consolidated Cash Flow

Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_Z——F+_A=+—HILFE

2010
—E—TF
Note HK$’'000
FfaE FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REEECESRHE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEMRS/(TRA)ERS 35(a) 66,302 (45,568)
Mainland China taxation paid BT E AT I (1,248) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating KBETIEETS,(FTA )RS F58
activities 65,054 (45,568)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZRERE
Interest received =& RS) 2,488 793
Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries WREKMTB A RIFFRIR S 36(a) - 104,630
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE (155) -
Addition to land lease payments ANE LSRR (1,355) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEAMEE MR NRE (11,544) (3,042)
Purchase of construction in progress BAEETR (27,119) (6,568)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - WS K RERTIS A
and equipment 30 -
Increase in restricted cash PR IR 2180 (45) (31)
Dividends received BURRE 24,956 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing EEE(FTR), P33R & /F5E
activities (12,744) 95,782
Cash flows from financing activities RETEH2RERE
Repayment of bank and other loans BRIRITREMER (67,881) (65,109)
Proceeds from issuance of bonus warrants BATALAFRRRIE B P15 RUE 50,156 1,984
Proceeds from issuance of convertible BT R B AT IR
preference shares - 195,000
Interest paid BRFLE (47,343) (15,291)
(Decrease)/increase in advance from a fellow —E R R BRA R 2 5
subsidiary CRiA) /1 hn (20,125) 20,125
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BEEEN(FTA), iR & F58
activities (85,193) 136,709
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BeRBSZEWORD),
equivalents EINFEE (32,883) 186,923
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BZzRERBSEEYD 362,555 172,226
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents R4 MRS EEY 2 [E K W 13,730 3,406
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+=-HA=+—H2zB&K
HEZEY 343,402 362,555
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December Rt-A=1+—HZE& X
REEEY 338,751 362,555
Cash and cash equivalents of disposal group BEEGENEEANIEES N
classified as held for sale REEEY 4,651 -
343,402 362,555
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“the Company” or “CRE”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability. The address of the registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) are
principally engaged in alternative energy business and software
development business. The Group has operations mainly in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The ultimate holding company is HKC (Holdings)
Limited (“HKC”), a company incorporated in Bermuda and listed in
Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or HK$’000), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2012.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”). They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of a derivative liability, which is carried
at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 EEEE@)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures B BEEHREE
(a)  New and amended standards and interpretation adopted (@)  AEEIRN AT RATNEETE
by the Group AR 27
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures BAQHES WiEh R
FAR(FEET)
HKFRSs Third improvement project BRMBmEE  —F- ? FZR

in 2010

The above new and amended standards and interpretation,
which are mandatory for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011, do not have material impact on
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

(b) New and amended standards, and interpretations b)
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 January 2011 but not currently relevant to the Group
(although they may affect the accounting for future
transactions and events)

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of rights issues

HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited exemption from

comparative HKFRS 7
disclosure for first-time

adopters
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a minimum
(Amendment) funding requirement
HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have (c)
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2011 and have not been early
adopted

The following standards and amendments to existing
standards have been published and are mandatory for
the Group s accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012 or later periods, but the Group has not early
adopted them:

21 wHEBE@E)

B BRBBREE @)
ERMER - F——F—f—
ABTEETBFZ 4R AR - A
WAL PIRINZ FTETER - 15

FTAR R FE

THPER RRITERZERTA
2T
F-A—RH 2RI ZER
H S ok i 12 HA s I ER Ay - 1

BERARER T ——

REEWBBR IR

HKFRS 9
EEM B REERFW
HKFRS 10

BBV ELFE105%
HKFRS 11

BBV ELNE5R
HKFRS 12

BBV EERE125%
HKFRS 13

BBV EEFE135R
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

BRMBRERNBEIRETA)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

BRMBRERNETR(ERTA)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

BRMBRERNETRERTA)

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
(amendments)

BEUBRELENFTH R

EAUBMEEREIWR(EFTA)

Financial instruments

SEMIA

Consolidated financial statements

R MBEmE

Joint arrangements

ek

Disclosures of interests in other entities

BENEMER  ER

Fair value measurement

NEERE

Severe hyperinflation and removal of
fixed dates for first-time adopters

BERBRRIIRERNEAER
ElE B &

Disclosure — transfers of financial
assets

BE-EEIRMEE

Financial instruments: disclosures —
offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

SHMIE RE-KEeHEER
Ea =N

Mandatory effective date and transition
disclosures

BREIEMA R ZWE

1 January 2015

—E—hF—H—H
1 January 2013
—E-=F—-H—H
1 January 2013
—E-—=F—-H—H
1 January 2013
—E-=F—-H—H
1 January 2013
—E-=F—-H—H
1 July 2011
—E—%+tH—H
1 July 2011
—E—%F+tH—H

1 January 2013

—ZET—=F—HF—H

1 January 2015

—ZE-hF—H—H
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(©

New standards, amendments and interpretations have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2011 and have not been early
adopted (Continued)

The following standards and amendments to existing
standards have been published and are mandatory for
the Group's accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012 or later periods, but the Group has not early

21 mREE@)

EBREBHRNE @)
€ EBMER-F——F—H—
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THIER RBITERZEFTA
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adopted them (Continued):

REEWEBRRN - (B)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2011)

HEAGEHERIFE275R
(ZE——FLER])

HKAS 28 (Revised 2011)

EHE G ERIE285%
(ZE——F&155])
HKAS 1 (Amendment)

G ERIE15E(ERTR)
HKAS 12 (Amendment)

BARGTERIFE129(BFTA)
HKAS 19 (Amendment)
BRGTERIFE199 (BT A)
HKAS 32 (Amendment)

EEGRTERIZE325R (BFTA)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 20

R (BARMBRERELZES)

— 2 EF20%

Separate financial statements

B 5K

Investments in associates and
joint ventures
REFE R REERARRIRE

Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

Hibh2mPAIEE 251

Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying
assets

REIA - WEIEEE E

Employee benefits

EEWEA

Financial instruments: presentation
— offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

SRIE: 27— KiHemEER
Ea =N

Stripping costs in the production phase
of a surface mine

FE RUE 5 EE P BR N FIERAK AR

1 January 2013
—E-=F—H—H

1 January 2013

—E-=F—H—H
1 July 2012
—ET——FtHA—H
1 January 2012
i
1 January 2013
—E-=F—H—H

1 January 2014

—ZET—mF—F—H

1 January 2013
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2011 and have not been early

adopted (Continued)

The following standards and amendments to existing
standards have been published and are mandatory for
the Group s accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012 or later periods, but the Group has not early

adopted them (Continued):

The Group has not early adopted the new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, which have
been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011. The Group has commenced
an assessment of the related impact but is not yet in
a position to state whether any substantial changes to
the Group’s accounting policies and presentation of the

financial information will be resulted.

2.2 Consolidation
(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amount of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the fair value
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net

assets including goodwill.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests,
the difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in

equity.
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2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The
fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an
associate. In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss

where appropriate.

(c) Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s interests in associated companies
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss)

identified on acquisition.
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2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(c) Associated companies (Continued)

The Group’s share of its associated companies’
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
and its share of post — acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in
the associated company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in interests in associated
companies are recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

In the Company’s balance sheet the interests in associated
companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of associated companies are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the directors of the Company
who make strategic decisions.

2.4

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Renminbi and the Group’s presentation
currency is Hong Kong dollars to facilitate analysis of the
financial information of the Group, which is listed in Hong
Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(iii)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.
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2.5 Property, plant and equipment 25 Y% - BEBERRE

Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvement, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and furniture,
fixtures and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using

the straight-line method, to write off their cost over their estimated

useful lives or remaining useful lives for those second-hand assets

and the estimated useful lives are as follows:

Electricity utility plants Shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years

Other plant and machinery 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease period
or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the
asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income/expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

Construction in progress

All direct and indirect costs relating to the construction of
property, plant and equipment including borrowing costs during
the construction period are capitalised as the costs of the assets,
which are classified as construction in progress. On completion,
the construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses. No
depreciation is provided on construction in progress until such
items as the relevant assets are completed and available for
intended use.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments represent prepayments for
leasehold land held under operating leases, which are stated
at cost and subsequently are amortised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease or when there is impairment, the
impairment is expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

(a) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business combination
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
concession right has a finite useful life and is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over its concession right period of shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years.

(b) Customer relationships
Customer relationships acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful live of 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(c) Computer software
Computer software separately acquired is shown at
historical cost. Computer software acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of computer software over its
estimated useful live of 2-5 years.

2.9 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

associated companies and non-financial
assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

2.10 Disposal groups held-for-sale and

discontinued operation

Disposal groups are classified as assets held for sale when their
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either
has been disposed of, or that is classified as held for sale, and
(a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations; and (b) is a part of a single coordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations; or (c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

2.8

29

BILEE#)
(c) EiSEH
B W 2 B RS SR SRR

AHIER - REBFAFHBEDE
EREMHREEEAZA
FEMR - BRI 2 HR

i L e
forEtE -
RHBAR BEARRES
MEE 2 RERE

ANEHRIENA R MBI
A ERREER - ETTEERER
e BEREEREEAKE 2253
HRARBERE - TROSRIEEE
ZAFEBEERAREREBERE
B8 - RFRRER - BER
RAInERReRE (REEL
B &/NEMETOE - HEEN
ShZFERMEENBERE  REE2
R H BB IR E 2 AT RENE

QN0 B ERHENREARCRILE

REANEAETIZEERHERI W
B - B RIRAR BT B R
BRE  DRFEEEQFERBE
RAME Z BIRE AR

ERIEREXRBRER ZAKED
TEREL IO BERABERE
N(ayRRBIL 2 T 2EEHEE M
HEE  kb)SE—mEFEZ—
ROWHEBUZIEXBREEY
IR E  K(c)RALEE EEEMK
BZHBLRR

77



CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.10 Disposal groups held-for-sale and

78

discontinued operation (continued)

Discontinued operations are carried at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell. Any gain or loss from
disposal of a business, together with the results of these
operations until the date of disposal, is reported separately as
discontinued operations. The financial information of discontinued
operations is excluded from the respective captions in the
consolidated financial statements and related notes for all years
presented.

2.11 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans and
receivable. The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets.
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2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 211 ERMEE M)

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value, and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income within other income/expenses, in the period in which
they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.
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2.12 Derivative financial instrument

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The
change in the fair value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The Group routinely enters into sale and purchase transactions
for physical delivery of power and carbon credit. These
transactions take the form of contracts that were entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery
of the physical commodity in accordance with the Group’s
expected sale, purchase or usage requirements, and are not
derivative within the scope of IAS 39.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against other expenses in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to other
income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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2.15 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Convertible preference share
Convertible preference shares are classified as equity that
can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds. Convertible preference shares are recognised
initially at the fair value.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associated companies operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.
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2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, except
for deferred tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or difference taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.20 Convertible note

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the
option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does
not vary with changes in their fair value.
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2.20 Convertible note (continued) 2.20 AR EE (&)

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is
recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does
not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the
compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of
the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component of a
compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent
to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry.

When the note is converted, the relevant equity component and
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion are transferred to share capital and share premium for
shares issued. When the note is redeemed, the relevant equity
portion is transferred to retained profits.

2.21 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other
borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leaves entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF”) and employee pension schemes
established by municipal government in the PRC for the
eligible employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the MPF
comply with the related statutory requirements. The Group
has no further payments obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The Group’s contributions to the MPF are
expensed as incurred and are not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave MPF prior to
vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available. The
asset of MPF is held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in compliance with
the requirements of respective municipal governments.
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2.23 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed
to a termination when the entity has a detailed formal
plan to terminate the employment of current employees
without possibility of withdrawal. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of employees
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan in which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions which are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period) and including the impact of any
non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save). At each balance sheet date, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable based on the non-market
vesting performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and
a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining
vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are exercised.
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2.24 Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.25 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of business tax
within the Group and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount
of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of
each arrangement.

(i) Revenue from alternative energy is recognised based on
power dispatch during commercial operation. Commercial
operation starts when obtaining a Power Purchase
Agreement, safety certificate from the State Electricity
Regulatory Commission (“SERC”) or Provincial Grid
Authority, and 240 hours commissioning.
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2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Revenue from provision for software development service is
recognised when the services are rendered.

(i)  Revenue from Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM”)
is recognised when the counterparty has contracted
to purchase the carbon credits, the sales prices have
been agreed, relevant electricity has been generated and
transmitted, and it is reasonably certain that the carbon
credits will be entitled.

(iv)  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(v) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.26 Operating leases as lessee

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.

2.27 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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2.28 Dividend distribution

3.1

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the shareholders or the directors of the Company,
where applicable.

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, restricted cash, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, derivative liability,
bank borrowings and convertible note. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes. The only derivative the
Group entered is related to an equity transaction with STAR
Butterfly Energy Ltd. (“STAR”) as disclosed in Note 25(g).

The Board of Directors focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. The Board of Directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland
China and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transaction and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors the foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

2.28 kYR 2
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2011, if US dollars and Hong Kong
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
Renminbi respectively, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s loss before income tax would have
been HK$11,974,000 lower/higher respectively (2010:

HK$15,727,000 higher/lower).

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in relation to the
subscription right of convertible preference shares granted
to STAR. As at 31 December 2011, if the share price
of the Group increased/decreased by 5%, the Group’s
loss before tax would have increased/decreased by
HK$1,130,000 and HK$1,100,000 respectively (2010:

HIK$4,400,000 and HK$4,200,000).

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from bank
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are dependent on changes in

market interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative contracts to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposures

should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2011, if the interest rate had increased/
decreased 100 basis points with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s loss before income tax would
have increased/decreased by HK$6,887,000 (2010:

HK$7,257,000).

(d) Creditrisk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other

receivables.

The carrying amounts of restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its

financial assets.

3.1
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(a)
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) Credit risk (Continued)

To manage the credit risk associated with restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents, most of the deposits are
placed with certain state-owned banks in the PRC which
are high-credit-quality financial institutions and banks with

high credit rankings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with trade and other
receivables, the Group adopts risk control measures to
assess the credit quality, to determine credit limits and
approve credit of customers, taking into account their
financial position and past experience. The Group has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is

taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group is exposed to significant concentration of credit
risk in terms of electricity sales as the Group’s sales of
electricity were made to state-owned provincial power grid
companies. The Group normally does not require collateral
from trade debtors. It normally grants credit terms of 30
days to these power grid companies. However, part of
the trade receivables due from the power grid companies
relate to government subsidy which are subject to the
government allocation of the tariff surcharge for renewable
energy. Based on past experience and industry practice,
these tariff premiums are generally paid in 6 to 12 months
from the date of the sales recognition. Ageing analysis
of the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 22.
Management makes periodic collective assessment as well
as individual assessment of the recoverability of trade and
other receivables based on historical payment records,
the length of the overdue period, the financial strength
of the debtors and whether there are any disputes with
the relevant debtors. The Group’s historical experience
in collection of trade and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors are of the opinion
that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has

been made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its
current obligations when they fall due. The Group measures
and monitors its liquidity through the maintenance of
prudent ratios regarding the liquidity structure of the overall
assets, liabilities, loans and commitments of the Group.
The Group also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to
meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in
the course of ordinary business.

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date. The table has been drawn up with reference
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group is required to
pay. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

31 B¥EREZEE

(e)

RBE = ERE

MENE & BB AN BREE
TTEIHAMEEZ AR - &
SEMEREE  BFE - BEX
MAEZ RBESRE - BB
HRFELEGFERERER
HET - ARENEFRBE
ERREKT  UBERABR
HIRERERNAEEBEHE
IRBETRRI Z EARESF R

TRANAREEREEH TR
PBBEZAEDIEA - TX
SERKEANRZHREH
ERABEZAMBRESRER
o HRBBAFETK BN
T EARDEZ EBRESER
HIEEMA °

Group REE
At 31 December 2011 N-—E——4%F
+t-A=+—H
Bank borrowings RITE K 75,133 75,133 225,399 359,848 735,513
Trade and other payables FE BRI
REMERZK 105,596 - - - 105,596
Convertible note IR E S 83,055 - - - 83,055
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—FF
+=—RA=+—8
Bank borrowings RITIERK 69,276 71,794 215386 415,656 772,112
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR 3K
MEAMERF 104,151 = - — 104,151
Amount due to a fellow BN —ERZR
subsidiary MEB R AIE 20,125 - - - 20,125
Convertible note G E 87,009 = - 87,009
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BiXEBEZE@®)
(e) Liquidity risk (Continued) (e) REBESRMR®)
Company P NN
At 31 December 2011 MN_E——F
+=A=+—8
Amounts due to LSRN
subsidiaries WIE 161,163 - 161,163
Other payables H i pER = 3,166 - 3,166
Convertible note IR E S 83,055 - 83,055
At 31 December 2010 MNZE—FF
+=—RA=+—8
Amounts due to FERT KB R A
subsidiaries I8 215,714 - 215,714
Other payables H h FE 15 5K 4,596 - 4,596
Convertible note Al ik ik - 87,009 87,009
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital structure.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet. The Group considers the cost
and the risk associates with the capital. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or conduct

shares buy-back.

The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the reasonable range

according to the Group’s strategy.

AEBEREAZRE RREAEE
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3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 3.2 EXEBEE#®)
The gearing ratios as 31 December 2011 and 2010 were as RZE——FRZFT—ZFTF+=A
follows: =t+—BZEXEGELERDT
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FAT
Current borrowings mEhE 150,985 65,109
Non-current borrowings IERENER 618,334 738,847
Total borrowings B iazg 769,319 803,956
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and o B RIESEEMIA
restricted cash REBEHIIRES (339,753) (363,512)
Net debt position ERFEA N 429,566 440,444
Total equity R 1BRE 1,807,491 1,681,047
Gearing ratio BEARABEE 23.8% 26.2%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEMEE

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
3).

TREBBEEEEAFENERZ
BT EETHN - TEARRELW
T

- BABAEEXEERNE
152 B CREHE) (F14 )

—  REBEIRFTAZREAINTEE
(BB BER) M (AERE
RELE)BREEXAEBME
BAIER (F28) »

—  HRAERETSHE (B IE

BEMBRABRRB)ZEERR
ERAIER (B34) °
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3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEMEFE)
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that TRENAEER=_Z—F+=A
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2011. T+ —HRAFEFECEERE
= o

Derivative liability STTAETEBE - 9,370 - 9,370
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that TREINAEER-_Z—ZF+_H
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2010. =+ —HRAFEFECEERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FAK F24 FE 34 B

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FA T FA T

Derivative liability PTETAERE - 75,500 - 75,500

The fair value of financial instruments that are not in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

- The fair value of the derivative liability is determined using
the Binominal model.

The carrying values of restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables and trade and other payables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

YHEERMSEEERTAZAT
BERBAEEIEE - EREGAER
MIZEIEL F RIS D IKEE RS E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant

and equipment and intangible assets

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets and concession right have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in
accordance with the accounting policy in Note 2.9. The Group
reviews certain indicators of potential impairment such as actual
electricity dispatched, tariff of electricity, market unit price of
Certified Emission Reduction (“CER”) and other general market
conditions.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need for
recognising an impairment loss is assessed by comparing
the carrying amount of the assets, to the higher of (i) the fair
value less cost to sell, and (i) the value-in-use. The fair value is
either determined by the referring to recent transactions or by
independent valuers whenever appropriate. The value-in-use
of the assets represents estimated future cash flows from the
continuous use of the assets, and requires complex assumptions
and estimates such as future electricity dispatched, tariff of
electricity and CER and discount rates. The discount rates used
to discount the estimated future cash flows are based on the
relevant industry sector risk premium and the gearing ratio.
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(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant

and equipment and intangible assets
(Continued)

An impairment charge of HK$42,912,000 relating to the wind
farms operating in Mudanjiang & Muling has been recognised as
the continuous curtailment in these two plants gave management
concern about the ability to recover the related carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The
recoverable amount was determined using a fair value less costs
to sell calculation over its useful life. The calculation was based
on i) five-year budget and i) an estimate for periods beyond
five years until the end of the operating period assuming a flat
growth rate. Key assumptions, including i) tariff increment at
approximately 4% per annum and an extra tariff increment
in 2013 based on management’s expectation on market
development and general inflation, ii) improvement in volume of
electricity dispatched on the basis that the curtailment issue will
be fully resolved in 2015, and iii) participation in CER scheme
throughout the life of the operating period with pricing referring
to the forward price in December 2011 assuming the Kyoto
Protocol will be further extended. The post-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projection is 10.38% per annum.

With all other variables held constant, if there is no tariff increment
throughout the operating period, the provision for impairment
would increase, resulting in a decrease in profit for the year by
HK$119,290,000.

Similarly, with all other variables held constant, if the volume of
electricity dispatched is 10% less than management expectation,
the provision for impairment would increase, resulting in a
decrease in profit for the year by HK$53,809,000.

(a)
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management of the Company and its subsidiaries determine
the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
projected wear and tear incurred during power generation. This
could change significantly as a result of technical renovations on
power generators. Management will adjust the estimated useful
lives where useful lives vary with previously estimated useful
lives. It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that
outcomes within the next financial year that are different from
current assumptions could require material adjustments to the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment.

Fair value of derivative

The fair value of derivative recorded in the balance sheet
cannot be derived from active markets. It is determined using
option pricing model. The inputs to these models, including
dividend vyield, risk-free rate, share price’s volatility, are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible. A degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential
tax exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period
in which such determination is made.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(e) Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
The policy for allowance of bad and doubtful debts of the Group
is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of receivables and management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer.

() Revenue recognition for CDM income

CDM income is determined by the electricity volume generated,
emission reduction factors and unit price of CER. The volumes
of electricity transmitted to the grid companies are subject to
the verification and certification by an agent appointed by the
buyer. The final settlement of CDM income will only occur after
verification and certification by an agent. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in estimating the expected volumes
of CER certification and the probability that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity.

The CODM has been identified as the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”). The Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance, allocate resources and make strategic
decisions by business segment. Subsequent to the discontinuance of
the software development segment as disclosed in Note 37, the Group
has one single operating segment, namely alternative energy. Although
the alternative energy segment consists of different locations of power
plants in PRC, the CODM considers that these underlying power plants
are subject to similar risks and returns. Therefore, it has only relied on
the reported revenue associated from these underlying power plants in
making financial decisions and allocating resources.

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from the generation of
electricity.

(e)

(f)
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The Directors assess the performance of operating segments based
on a measure of segment results and share of profits less losses of
associated companies. This measurement basis excludes the effects of
non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments, such as gain
on deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries, excess of fair value of net
assets acquired over cost of acquisition and provision for impairment
losses. Fair value gain on derivative liability and other corporate
expenses are also not included in the segment results as they
mainly represent the income and expenses arising from the holding
companies. Other information provided to the Directors is measured in
a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.

Total segment assets exclude corporate assets which are centrally
managed. This is part of the reconciliation to total consolidated
balance sheet assets. Corporate assets mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, other receivables and prepayments held by the head office.

B DA EE R EEBE R BNEMREE
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ETARREzZAFEREEEMARERITT
TEADBEE  RAREIBRRKEE
AR Z WS o MERRH 2 EMERTIIR
B EHRER B2 T AFE -

DMEEBETBRETREREZOFREE -
UTREGAEERBREERECETE
DHR CREETRBRAMEERTELZ
Re kRS EY  HtRERREMNK
I8 °

99



CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The segment information provided to the Directors for the reportable RAZWMOFMESREHBE_T—FR
segments for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as ZE-EFF A=+ —HIEFEZHHE
follows: BHAT
2010
—E-%F

Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations
ot BEIE
BEXY KEEHR
Total
Alternative Software reportable
energy development segments
DS
EREER  HHRE  HHeH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

Revenue I 3 89,897 792 90,689 17,897 6,213 24,110
Segment results IBEE (19,048) (3,639) (22,687) (7,719) (1,069) (8,784)
Provision for impairment losses 7 18 & 18 % 4% (42,912) - (42,912) = (4,735) (4,735)
Gain on deregistration BUA s - - - - 145 145
Share of profits less losses of ~ JE{L Bt & A T

associated companies & AR E e 67,376 - 67,376 21,750 - 21,750
Excess of fair value of net assets P B 2 E 2

acquired over cost of ATEBLWE

acquisition (including both KA (BERS

arising from subsidiaries and 0t B A ] e B &

associated companies) DRE) ZEE - - - 386,553 - 386,553
Finance income E/R 0N 183 153 336 49 142 191
Finance costs B & K (47,367) - (47,367) (8,572 = (8,572
(Loss)/profit before income  FrEH Al (B1&) /% F

tax (41,768) (3,486) (45,254) 392,061 (5513 386,548
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEREe,/ (FAX) 11,981 - 11,981 (25,399) 1,008 (24,396)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(FR)%F (29,787) (3,486) (33,273) 366,662 (4.510) 362,152
Depreciation nE 57,647 - 57,647 9,999 197 10,196
Amortisation B 12,294 - 12,294 2,851 902 3,753

Provision for impairment losses 5 {8 /&5 18 % {&

- property, plant and equipment  —#1 % - R LR E - - - - 269 269
— concession right — R 42,912 - 42,912 = = =
- computer software - B - - - - 129 129
— customer relationship and -XFBER

software technology QS RIpAIE

know-how - - - - 4,337 4,337
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5 Segment information (continued) 5 Z2HER @
The segment assets as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as follows: RIE——FRZFT—ZTF+A=1+—H

2011
e

Continuing Discontinued
operations  operations
& 241

Total

Alternative Software  reportable
energy development segments
DS

ERER BHHER  oBAH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER

Total segment assets NHBERE 2,689,914 4,651 2,604,565 2,437,057 14,814 2,451,871
Total segment assets include: P BEAELEALE
- Interests in associated BN AN 2
companies 1,098,713 - 1,098,713 1,011,962 - 1,011,962
- Additions tonon-current  — R EERBEE
assets 40,031 - 40,031 16,329 - 16,329
A recongiliation of (loss)/profit for the year of total reportable segments A|2MA AT 2 AFE (BEI18) SmF EA
to profit for the year of the Group is provided as follows: SEAFEREFEEAT ¢
2011
—E——F
HK$°000
FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year of total reportable EHRS BT REE
segments (E518),/ & A (33,273) 362,152
Unallocated amounts: A& :
— Fair value gain on derivative liability —-PHETERBEGZ
nFERE 69,320 17,018
— Other corporate expenses, net —HM R FE (31,481) (43,846)
Profit for the year AN [ i F 4,566 335,324
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Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

AE2WOAEEREELELRET

2010

—ZT-ZF

HK$’000

FH&T

Total segment assets DEHEERE 2,694,565 2,451,871
Corporate assets TrEEE

— cash and cash equivalents —IHEe RIS E 62,789 309,341

— others —H b 743 461

Total assets BERE 2,758,097 2,761,673

The total non-current assets by geographical location are detailed

iR E N 2 IERBEEREFNTINT

below:
2010
—E—FF
HK$’000
FAB T
Hong Kong BB 211 129
The PRC = 2,293,344 2,231,342
Total non-current assets RBEELE 2,293,555 2,231,471

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s revenue for
reportable segments from external customers of HK$89,897,000 (2010:
17,897,000) and HK$792,000 (2010: HK$6,213,000) are attributable to
the China and Japan markets respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group has two customers
with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total revenue. Revenues
from these customers amounting to HK$89,897,000 are solely
attributable to alternative energy business.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group has two
customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total revenue.
Revenues from these customers amounting to HK$17,897,000 and
HK$6,120,000 are attributable to alternative energy business and
software development business respectively.
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BE-—T——F+-A=+—RALFE "
AREREIAEFZAZHD BREHE
89,897,000/# 7T (= F —Z 4 : 17,897,000
BI) R792008 T (T —FF ¢
6,213,000/ 7C) 7 BR8P Bl R A AT

HE-Z——E+-_A=+—RAILFE
AEEBEMEEF @ ARG BERNER
BUWEZ10% - REUHERP 2 WA
89,897,000/ 7T + 4LHER BB RAERERS -

BHEZ-—TF+_HA=+—BIFE K
SEEMBEF  MMHREBEAEER
WaEz10% ° RAWEETP 2 WaEm D 5l R
17,897,0007% 7T £26,120,000/& 7T » JHIR &
BREERER M IFHEER -
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6 Expenses by nature 6 ZEMEEIZEX
2011
—E——F
HK$°000
FTHERT
Auditor’s remuneration 2 BEM B & 2,170 2,078
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments T8 £ Hh T & 20
(Note 18) (Kt 3E18) 1,062 290
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) 28 B (B EE19) 11,289 2,612
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %) 3 - #2E LR EITE
(Note 16) (MtzE16) 57,647 9,999
Net exchange losses & 5 B 185 8 6,030 4,556
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ EE@MNH X (BIFEEEM L)
emoluments) (Note 11) (Mt &E11) 25,366 17,391
Operating lease rental KEMEEHEE 2,966 531
Research and development expenditure MERFEER 12,190 =
Repair and maintenance expenses HERRERX 5,344 4113
Corporate expenses TERY 2,023 2,091
Legal and professional fees EEREXEBA
— for the acquisition of alternative —WEBEREIRED
energy business - 8,416
— others —H1 3,860 1,969
3,860 10,385
Management service fee EERKE 2,190 8,843
Other expenses HAh 12,386 4,906
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses S5 &E K AN R 1TIN & 25 144,523 67,795
7 Other income 7 HWA

2011
S

HK$’000
FTHET
Clean Development Mechanism income A T LN 3,848 -
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8 Provision for impairment losses 8 REEERME
2011
—E——F
HK$°000
FTHET
Provision for impairment losses on FFETHE 2R BB ERE
concession right 42,912 -
9 Finance income and costs 9. HBWARBMERAEK
2011
—E——F
HK$’000
TERT
Finance costs: R PNE
— notional interest expense on convertible —BREFREIEEZ
note wholly repayable within 5 years TRRERZREFS
B (2,349) (2,280)
— interest expenses on bank borrowings —HBERAFAZEHEEZ
not wholly repayable within 5 years IRITERABRAX (47,367) (15,291)
Less: amount capitalised in construction HWoEBREARZ
in progress (note) FEIEFRECE - 6,719
Finance costs R E KA (49,716) (10,852)
Finance income: IR N
— interest income on bank deposits —RITF R B HA 2,393 662
Finance costs — net RUE A —F &8 (47,323) (10,190)
Note: The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the Mt R —2F - BAAERIAERER N
construction of wind farms was between 5.94% and 6.40% per annum in G ECRRAZBTERNEREF594%
2010. Z6.40% °
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RIS |MRMEE

10 Directors’ and senior management’s

remuneration
(@) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31

December 2011 is set out below:

10 EERSREEREHMH

(a) EE=M2
REENEBE-_ZEZ——F+=-A
=+—HIEFENFMOT

Employer’s

Salary & contribution

other Discretionary Share-based  to pension

Fees benefits bonuses compensation scheme

ek BRiKETE
Name of Director e  HHBER 0 BBERL 0 ROBE ZEIER “Eg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TER TR TER TER
OEl Kang, Eric =0l 75 1,160 180 - 12 1,427
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie RUE 75 1,160 180 603 12 2,030
YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce PNEE: 75 2,669 416 647 12 3,819
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 288 7% 75 1,202 187 324 12 1,800
Tanguy Vincent SERRA®  Tanguy Vincent SERRA™ 32 - - - - 32
WANG Sing? Tite 43 - - - - 43
ZHANG Songyi EE S 150 - - - - 150
TANG Siu Kui, Emest BkE 150 - - - - 150
YU Hon To, David aER 150 - - - - 150
825 6,191 963 1,574 48 9,601

Notes: F3E
l Resigned on 8 June 2011 Ul RZE——FNANBERT

@ Appointed on 8 June 2011

@ WZE——FRXANBEZE
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10 Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration (continued)

106

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31
December 2010 is set out below:

RIS RR M

10 EENSHNEEESMN @)

(a)

E=ME @)
BEERBE-_T—ZT4+=A
=T RUEFEZHMOT

OEl Kang, Eric =l 75 1,200 300 - 12 1,587
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslig RUEN 25 400 400 228 4 1,057
YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce AR 75 2,640 880 935 12 4,542
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel REH 75 1,200 300 468 12 2,055
LIU Zhixin@ 2| =5 50 - _ _ _ 50
Tanguy Vincent SERRA® Tanguy Vincent
SERRA® 8 - - - - 8
ZHANG Songyi R 150 - - - - 150
TANG Siu Kui, Ernest BkH 150 - - - - 150
YU Hon To, David mEE 150 = = = = 150
758 5,440 1,880 1,631 40 9,749
Notes: B3
" Appointed on 1 September 2010 Q) RIE—ZTFNA—BEZE
@ Resigned on 1 September 2010 @ REZT—TFNA—HFHTE
@ Appointed on 23 November 2010 @ RIE—TF+— A+ =BEZF
Five highest paid individuals (b) EEMEBREAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four directors (2010: four) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2010: one) individual
during the year are as follows:

FA - AEBRERSFALBED
H(ZE-TF OREF GEZ
MEE R EX 22K - FA
ERNBT—R(Z2—2F : —%)@E
MALTZBEWT

2011

=E2——-F

HK$’000

FH T
Salaries and other benefits HFekEMER 824 706
Retirement scheme contributions BRRETBIHR - 12
824 718
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2010

—Z-ZF

HK$’'000

T T

Wages, salaries and other benefits TE #FekEMmERN 21,896 15,448

Share-based compensation LA B A7 1 3R BA 1,574 1,631

Provision for unused annual leave RERFBRER 224 143
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BRERRA—FRE R E

(Note a) (Mf3Ea) 1,672 169

Charged to statement of comprehensive E2EBRARE MK
income (Note 6) (Mt3E6) 25,366 17,391

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC
is at a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective
municipal governments. The Group also participates in the MPF scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

Contributions totaling HK$27,000 (2010: HK$23,000) were payable under
the MPF scheme at 31 December 2011.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profit for the year (2010: Nil). Taxation on PRC
profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the
year at 25%, which is the rate of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

| REERPEREERAKS T EIVEH 2 H

RIVRRBAEBTBRTRE 2 B0 REL -
A EE TR B E A5 M ATE S T NS
TR —ABRELTE o ZTEIRR
BEBEEGOIZEZEEMR - BED
AEIRABNERATE Z EEERAK
ATl - RIBRESE - BEXREEHE
LHREBARRA B Z5%METEIEH a3 -
B8 A 2B E ER A20,0005 7T © &5
EIEFBERNES BN ES -

& #£27,000%8 7L (=T —Z 4 : 23,0008
T ZEREREEE BN —F
+—A=+—HB%f-

FRA AN SR B 4 AND AR FE SR TR ) - A At
EEFEHIELREZS—ZF &) - F
BRI S FL T ARIE F AR T RESRBUR ) + &
BliE AR R25%TE ©

2010

—T-ZF

HK$’'000

T T

Withholding tax on dividends BAREZEMM (1,305) -
Deferred income tax credit/(expense) (Note 30) EIEFTERIEK 2 ()

(Mg 7E30) 13,674 (25,399)

Income tax credit/(expense) B e, (B 12,369 (25,399)

Note:

The share of income tax expense of associated companies of HK$15,803,000
(2010: HK$6,293,000) is included in the Group’s share of profits less losses of

associated companies.

Bifat
FEALH

T —Z4F 6,293,000/ 7C) -

b AR 2 TS H S 415,803,000 T (=

TRt ARGEE 2 &

HE R R AREIR ©
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The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax from continuing
operations differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated
entities as follows:

AEEARETAT(EIR), 8 M 2 BUE - BT
AR MERR G F RN 22
A AERE N

2010
—E—TF
HK$’000
FAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax Fri5 & a1 (B518), & F (4,317) 365,233
Less: Share of profits less losses of B N B (R R S 18
associated companies (67,376) (21,750)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FrUiEEEEFE 2 A FEBH
cost of acquisition (including both arising WEKA(BEREHE A
from subsidiaries and associated companies) A RHE DN E 2 K A) - (386,553)
Fair value gain on derivative liability METHAGEZ A TFEKS (69,320) (17,018)
(141,013) (60,088)
Tax calculated at the domestic rates applicable 3% & B B 5 2 3% K Frid A B
to profits in the respective countries MERFAE 2T\ 27,650 10,604
Expenses not deductible for taxation purpose IR d 3 (8,654) (8,722)
Income not subject to tax BARBKA 476 178
Tax losses not recognised RERZTIEEIE (1,957) (996)
Deferred tax on undistributed profits KPR 4 F 2 8 E B I8 (3,841) =
Withholding tax on dividends AR BB 2B (1,305) -
Withholding tax arising from acquisition U BE T E A 2 TEH - (26,463)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERiEe, (Fx) 12,369 (25,399
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 19.6% (2010: 18.3%). MEFHERABER19.6%(ZE—FF ¢

J.I.C. (Macao Commercial Offshore) Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is exempted from Macao Complementary
Tax in accordance with the Macao Decree Law No. 58/99/M.

The profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company is
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of
HK$47,218,000 (2010 loss: HK$29,256,000).

18.3%) °

BIERFIES F£58/99/M3E - ARQ T2 EM
BARERCRMIBEFEERS) BRARE
A BB S TR

AANA RIS SR 3 I8 2 RN B I BAE 253
BAEMER,(EI8) 547,218,000 7T
(ZZ—ZF 518 : 29,256,000/87T) °
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(a) Basic (a) EXF
BRERBNIEA R FIRRERR
B AN EAE TR

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. BT HEEHE -
2010
—E-TF
HK$’000
FAT
Profit from continuing operations attributable ARRIBEREZFTAE A
to equity holders of the Company FEHREFELEER
(HK$ thousand) 2@ F (FA& ) 16,682 340,821
Loss from discontinued operations attributable 7K A & R Bz E A
to equity holders of the Company KRB RIELE
(HK$ thousand) EBzEBER(THET) (3,486) (4,510)
Profit attributable to equity holders of ARNRIBREERFTAE A
the Company (HK$ thousand) FEAG & R (F& L) 13,196 336,311
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %47 & 3@ I hngE ¥ 5 8
in issue (thousand) (F5) 1,177,046 847,729
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) R EARE T (FRAEN)
From continuing operations REFEBEEED 1.42 40.20
From discontinued operations REBRIEEEER (0.30) (0.53)
1.12 39.67
(b) Diluted (b) #F

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the B ERNERFHEBET L BR

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
including the bonus warrants and convertible preference shares.
The convertible preference shares are assumed to have been
converted into ordinary shares. For the bonus warrants, a
calculation is made in order to determine the number of shares
that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market share price of the Company’s shares during
the year) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights
attached to outstanding bonus warrants. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the bonus
warrants.

IEFHE - WIHMBBHEEEER
B (B R AT SR A o8 I P R AR 4 5T
BB B2 RZAE - ATRRE
ARERRLILRE B - LALFR
RIEEME - LbETE T IAMEL -
FE B 1 AR TR AL SR A AR R P I 22
BlEZEREE EURAVEE
ERARBFEARN FETE) KB
ZBRMEE - B EREFESHZR
D BB ERRAFRAAEFRETEM
EEBIT 2RI EE BAELLE -
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(b) Diluted (continued) (b) #F@)
2010
—E—EF
HK$’'000
FBT
Profit from continuing operations attributable RAABIRRERTFEA
to equity holders of the Company BIEREFELEER
(HK$ thousand) 2 A (F#7T) 16,682 340,821
Interest expense on convertible note AMRERMNEAX
(HK$ thousand) (F&T) - 2,280
Profit from continuing operations used to ARETEREERT
determine diluted earnings per share ZHRABBKEER
il 16,682 343,101
Loss from discontinued operations attributable 7~ A & R Bz 158 A
to equity holders of the Company BERBERIELS
(HK$ thousand) X%z EE(THET (3,486) (4,510)
13,196 338,591
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2 317 & @ A% f0 4 T 15 &
in issue (thousand) (Fr) 1,177,046 847,729
Adjustment for: AT EHIEAE
— Assumed conversion of convertible — BRI AR B 2 R
preference shares (thousand) R (TR’ 1,434,701 498,838
— Assumed conversion of convertible note —BRER AR EE
(thousand) (TR - 82,127
— Incremental shares issued for no — M (EE NI
consideration: Warrants 748 and RIRET 748 &
795 (thousand) 795 (F %) 12,693 37,648
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Bt &% 8 & F| 2 T i@ A%
for diluted earnings per share (thousand) naEFEHE(FR) 2,624,440 1,466,342
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share fREERR,(E8)
(HK cents per share) (FRAEW)
From continuing operations REBEREED 0.63 23.40
From discontinued operations REBRIEEEER (0.13) (0.31)
0.50 23.09

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the year ended 31 December
2011 did not assume the exercise of the share options,
convertible note and the subscription rights for convertible
preference shares outstanding during the year since the exercise
would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the year ended 31 December
2010 did not assume the exercise of the share options and the
subscription rights for convertible preference shares outstanding
during the year since the exercise would have an anti-dilutive
effect.

HE-T——F+-A=+—AI
g2 SRIEERT, UFR) L&
28R 4 PO RATE 2 MR HE - AT
R 5 TR T 4 1R 8 5 R R
T - REABBERELRE

EB R
BRI ©

RE-F-—FF+-A=+—AL
TESREHET, (BR) D&
8 £ A 17 8 2 R R AT
BB RERRETE - R A
BRTEBARMEYE -



FEBLERRREERLAE —ZT——FF%
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

No dividend was proposed and paid for the year ended 31 December HE_Z2——F+-A=+—HIEFE"
2011 (2010: Nil). TEEETERTEMRE(ZE—2F :
') .
At 1 January 2010 R=-E-ZF-f-H
Cost BN 1,283 - 521 212 2,016
Accumulated depreciation and 2 MERRE
impairment (1,003) - (359) 212) (1,574)
Net book amount EEFE 280 = 162 = 442
Year ended 31 December 2010 HZ-Z-Z&
TZA=t-HBLEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 280 - 162 - 442
Currency translation differences EFHREEE 81 16,078 20 24 16,203
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) U B Fff & 7 &1 (Ff £ 36) - 498,559 591 695 499,845
Additions NE 2,106 620 138 178 3,042
Depreciation nE (260) (9,650) (171) (115) (10,196)
Impairment loss REBE (178) = (91) - (269)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 2,029 505,607 649 782 509,067
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-ZF+-A=1+-8
Cost [N 3,474 515,591 1,272 1,118 521,450
Accumulated depreciation and R MERRME
impairment (1,445) (9,984) (623) (331) (12,383)
Net book amount REFE 2,029 505,607 649 782 509,067
Year ended 31 December 2011 HZ_-Z——-F
TZR=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount EREFE 2,029 505,607 649 782 509,067
Currency translation differences ERBREEZE 86 31,598 26 44 31,754
Additions NE - 10,466 205 873 11,544
Transfer from construction BRATRIRME)
in progress (Note 17) - 489,645 - - 489,645
Disposal & - - (12) (18) (30)
Depreciation nE (734) (56,216) (292) (405) (67,647)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 1,381 981,100 576 1,276 984,333
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%+-B=+-H
Cost AR 2,260 1,049,194 950 1,811 1,054,215
Accumulated depreciation and R MERFE
impairment (879) (68,094) (374) (535) (69,882)
Net book amount REFE 1,381 981,100 576 1,276 984,333
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s A& E EEE@QG@,?_()0,000}% T(ZE—F
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$966.7 million “F : 505,700,000/870) 2 & T WK - #as
(2010: HK$505.7 million) (Note 27). RAECD ARG A TIRITER(MFE27) -
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At 1 January 2010 RZE—FF—H—H 3,311
Currency translation differences PEHmE E5E 15,644
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) G NEPNCI ) 491,161
Additions NE 13,287
Deduction of income generated during MERHATEEKRA
commissioning (21,888)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZZE—ZFF+_-_A=+—H 501,515
At 1 January 2011 R—ZFT——F—HF—H 501,515
Currency translation differences fEH g =5 8,862
Additions NE 27,119
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 16) B =¥ % « #22 & R & (Fi 51 16) (489,645)
At 31 December 2011 R-ZB——FE+_-_A=+—H 47,851
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s A £ B BRM{E6,400,0008 L ( —E—ZF ©
construction in progress with carrying values of HK$6.4 million (2010: 444,900,000 ) 2 & THEETIECHH
HK$444.9 million) (Note 27). LAERSE T RITIER (M7E27) -
At 1 January 2010 R—ZTE—ZEF—HF—H =
Currency translation differences fEHimE =5 530
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) I BE B B & B (M9 5236) 16,792
Amortisation R (290)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZEF+_-_A=+—H 17,032
At 1 January 2011 R-—ZZE——F—H—H 17,032
Currency translation differences ERmEER 732
Additions INE 1,355
Amortisation 5 (1,062)
At 31 December 2011 R-TBE——F+_-_A=+—H 18,057
Notes: BisE
(@)  Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s prepaid (@ ALEIRMEE15,400,0008T(ZF ?
land lease payments with carrying values of HK$15.4 million (2010: % : 15,100,000/ 7T ) 2 FET L A0 E K
HK$15.1 million) (Note 27). EARLES S TRITER(E27) -
(b)  The prepaid land leases payments were held on leases of over 50 years in (o)  TENT AR E T TR B K BE LASOF LA
Mainland China. HKFFE ©

112



TEBLERRREGRAR —T— —FF#H
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

At 1 January 2010 R-ZE-ZE5-H—H
Cost B AR 420 18,110 12,739 - 31,269
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R 52 5 K & (85) (14,949 (10,696) - (25,730)
Net book amount REFE 335 3,161 2,043 - 5,539
Year ended 31 December 2010 BZE_E-2F

TZA=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount FURAEFE 335 3,161 2,043 = 5,539
Additions NE 7 = = 5,968 5,975
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BE B B A ) 3 - - 188,358 188,361
Amortisation #iH (86) (527) (340) (2,561) (3,514)
Impairment loss AEER (129) (2,634) (1,703) = (4,466)
Closing net book amount FRERSE 130 - - 191,765 191,895
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-%%

+=ZA=+-H
Cost B A 430 18,110 12,739 194,326 225,605
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R 5 2 85 & i & (300) (18,110) (12,739) (2,561) (33,710)
Net book amount RE%E 130 - - 191,765 191,895
Year ended 31 December 2011 BE-_E2—-&

TZAZt-HLEFE
Opening net book amount ENEmFE 130 - - 191,765 191,895
Currency translation differences EHhE=E 1 - - 6,751 6,752
Additions NE 155 - - - 155
Amortisation g (65) - - (11,224) (11,289)
Impairment loss AEER - - - (42,912) (42,912)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 221 - - 144,380 144,601
At 31 December 2011 R-ZBE——F

+t=A=+-H
Cost B K 408 - - 202,678 203,086
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 25 % 8 R E (187) - - (58,298) (58,485)
Net book amount REFE 221 - - 144,380 144,601
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20 Interests in associated companies 20 REEE QR ZER
Group
wE
2011
—_ =
HK$’000
THERT
Group’s share of net assets AEEEEEEFE 1,098,713 1,011,962
The following financial information, after making adjustments to conform THMBER(ERABRNEREEFESS
with the Group’s significant accounting policies, represents the Group’s R —80) AR B A H (L EE = A R (2]
aggregate share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of associated HRIFLEMCEE A WERES -
companies, all of which are unlisted, and is summarised below: AT
2011
—_E——F
HK$°000
THERT
Assets BE 2,656,646 2,590,951
Liabilities =N (1,557,933) (1,578,989)
Net assets BEFE 1,098,713 1,011,962
Revenue I #5 281,936 184,900
Profit for the year R FZ 5 A 67,376 21,750
Particulars of the associated companies are set out on page 142. BE N R ZFIBERE 1428 ©
21 Interests in subsidiaries 21 AMBARZRELE
Company
KA T
2011
—_E——F
HK$’000
THERT
Unlisted shares, at cost E LMD - HRAK AN 89,214 85,571
Provision for impairment B (76,810) (64,053)
12,404 21,5618
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NGIE ) 1,554,064 1,261,044
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A BT /B R B3R IR (161,163) (215,714)
1,405,305 1,066,848
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21 Interests in subsidiaries (continued) 21 RIB ARz @
The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and MEB AR EHRAEER RO REENRE
repayable on demand. Their carrying amounts approximate their fair & o BREEEANTERS -
values.
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from subsidiaries are FEUIH I A RIFRIE 2 BREE DAB TTRTHE o

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The carrying amounts of the amounts due to subsidiaries are mainly EMIE AR REZ REEEZUA T
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. (=
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on pages 139 to FTEMBATZFIBHNRE139E1418 °
141.
22 Trade and other receivables 22 FEUWBRFR R H b B UK
Group Company
PN S VNN
2011 2011
—E——% —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Trade receivables JiE UK BR 3R (@) 69,321 50,611 - -
Other receivables At fE U FR (b) 43,755 109,988 459 328
113,076 160,599 459 328
Notes: MisE
(@  At31 December 2011 and 2010, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is @ RZE——FRZT—ZTF+-A=1—
as follows: A - EUERRZ BRERDITAT -
2011
—E——%F
HK$’000
FET
Less than 30 days LHR30H 50,901 35,810
More than 30 days and within 60 days HEiA30AER608 A 1,839 1,176
More than 60 days and within 90 days HiE60HER0H A 681 856
More than 90 days FBiE0H 15,900 12,769
69,321 50,611
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Notes: (Continued)

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers.
Trade receivables that are less than 30 days past due are not considered
impaired. As at 31 December 2011, trade receivables of HK$18.4 million
(2010: HK$14.8 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to
the government subsidies on the electricity tariff which have not been
allocated and distributed. Based on past experience and industry practice,
these tariff premiums are generally paid in 6 to 12 months from the date
of the sales recognition. As at 31 December 2011, there were HK$3.65
million (2010: Nil) trade receivables on alternative energy business being
past due over 12 months. No impairment has been provided for these
receivables as the balances are not in dispute and there is no indication
that the amount will not be collectible.

Other receivables mainly represent input value-added taxation recoverable
of HK$35,347,000 (2010: HK$39,317,000) arising from purchase of
property, plant and equipment. In 2010, other receivables also included
an amount due from a joint venture partner of HK$57,146,000 which was
fully settled in 2011.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables is
denominated in the following currencies:

W

(%)
AEEREBSEPIRMI0A ZERE -
BE DRSO H Z B R T AR R E -
RZZT——F+ZA=+—8  BREX
18,400,000 7L (= —Z4 : 14,800,000
BT BB B RRIE - thEFRIBETIER
APEERIKENRFEEME - £108
EEBRRITEEY  LEEEHD K
MIHEMER A EfERte 2128 AN - 1%
—T——H+ZA=+—H FEEAH
BiB12{EA 2 B REREBEUERS
3,650,000 (= —TF : &) - ARKE
BASREMFE  TEDPRBETZER
N RTURE - B R U S AR IR AR
RERERE -

Hth el R BETE AEKEREER
35,347,000 7T ( —ZE—Z 4 : 39,317,000
BIL)  DIREREEYE - M RERE o RN
—T-TF HERFRIABERK—F
AL BEFUIAST,146,000/8 7T  ZAIED
NoT——FREHE -

7R 5= (B e W R A e L A R 2 BR T ELIA
THIEREEHE

2010
—ET-TF
HK$’000
FHT

Hong Kong dollars BT
Renminbi N
US dollars Ev
Singapore dollars T

533 352
112,513 169,511
- 706

30 30

113,076 160,599

All trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value
of each class of receivables mentioned above.

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s trade
receivables with carrying values of HK$44.1 million (2010: HK$26.3
million) (Note 27).

FfT 7 M8 BR 0 A B KR I R ) 2 ORU(E
AE - RS MRS ERERRAS LIS
BRI UG 2 BREE -

HETRAOEFBAEEE THREE
44,100,000/ 7T (=Z —Z4 : 26,300,000
FTT) 2 IR SRVEEAR (P 5E27)
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23 Restricted Cash

23 ZRHRE

Group
&
2011
—=E——fF
HK$’000
FET
Deposit placed with a bank for securing TFHRR—HERITURBERER
performance bonds and guarantees in HERSBHORBERERZ
respect of an alternative energy project F&R 1,002 957
The carrying amount is denominated in Renminbi. IREEUARBEHE -
24 Cash and cash equivalents 24 RERREEEY
Group Company
RE P NN
2011 2011
—E——F - ——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Cash at bank and in hand |ITRFHERSE 280,514 52,587 2,608 5,600
Short-term bank deposits EHRITER 58,237 309,968 58,237 301,681
338,751 362,555 60,845 307,281
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24 Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 24 RERBEESEEN @

Group Company
rE /N
2011 2011

—B——fF —B——F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T

(a) Placed in banks in the PRC:  (a) A B & B1THEE -

— denominated in Renminbi -UAREZE 24,199 40,677 - =
— denominated in Hong Kong B THEE

dollars 240,105 5,237 - -
— denominated in US dollars —UETHEE 6,137 8,263 - -
— denominated in Macau —LURMTTEE

dollars 29 64 - -
— denominated in Euros — BT E 17 18 - =

(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b)) R BB S IRITHFE -

— denominated in Hong Kong B TEE

dollars 6,997 307,690 146 307,245
— denominated in Renminbi —UARMEHE 60,663 - 60,663 -
— denominated in US dollars —ETEE 381 382 35 35

— denominated in Singapore —AFTIE T EE
dollars 9 97 - -
(c) Cash in hand ) FHERE 214 227 1 1
338,751 362,555 60,845 307,281

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: REER ZEBRFENT -

Short-term bank deposits HMHIRITER - 1.75% 0.32%-1.07% 1.35%
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the RiRE BB 2 RaE ERR A LA
carrying value of the cash and bank balances stated above. ZRe RIRITHEMREE -

The short-term bank deposits of the Group and the Company have REBERARNBREBARITERZRIBAD A
original maturities of one to two months. —EMIEA -
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25 Share capital 25 R

Non-redeemable

Ordinary shares of convertible preference
Note HK$0.01 each shares of HK$0.01 each
EREEOIRTZ BREEOIETZ
i &t SRR ABEETRRELR @t
Number of Number of
shares  HK$°000 shares  HK$000  HK$'000
RS E TERL RS E THERL TERL
Authorised: BE
At 1 January 2010, RZZ-ZF5-J—-0"
31 December 2010, —E-ZF+-R
1 January 2011 and =t+-B-Z%——%
31 December 2011 —A-BRZZ——F
+-RA=+—H 9,000,000,000 90,000 6,000,000,000 60,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BORAR:
At 1 January 2010 R-E-TF—f—H 772,592,209 7,726 - - 7,726
Exercise of bonus warrants 748 47 { 41 | 2 i 4E & 748 (@) 6,635,888 66 = = 66
Exercise of bonus warrants 795 f7{B AL 7 2R & 795 (b) 98,038 1 = = 1
Issue of bonus shares BITH R (©) 77,733,834 77 - - 777
Issue of convertible preference AEBRRET
shares to HKC ARRE TR (d) = - 1,385,170,068 13,852 13,852
Issue of convertible preference FISTARZ TR R R B £ 1%
shares to STAR (€ - - 300,000,000 3,000 3,000
At 31 December 2010 RZE-TF+-A
=+—H 857,059,969 8,570 1,685,170,068 16,852 25,422
At1 January 2011 ®-2-—-%-A-8 857,050,060 8570 1685170068 16852 25422
Exercise of bonus warrants 748 {7 {# 41 F| R iR 1E & 748 (@) 54,879,940 549 - - 549
Exercise of bonus warrants 795 1T {# 41 FI| 2 ik 12 55 795 (b) 59,261,866 593 - - 593
Conversion of convertible AR B SRR K R
preference shares to LA
ordinary shares (d) 1,385,170,068 13,852 (1,385,170,068) (13,852) -
At 31 December 2011 —Z——%+-H
E +—A 2,356,371,843 23,564 300,000,000 3,000 26,564
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Notes:

(@)

On 14 May 2009, the Company issued 76,353,475 warrants (Warrant
Code: 748) on the basis of one warrant for every ten existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants 748”). The holders
of Bonus Warrants 748 are entitled to subscribe at any time during 14
May 2009 to 13 May 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.30 per share.

On 1 June 2010, the subscription price of Bonus Warrants 748 was
adjusted to HK$0.266 per share as a result of a new issue of bonus
warrants (Warrant Code: 795) and bonus shares in June 2010. Such
adjustment took retroactive effect from 30 April 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, 54,879,940 (2010: 6,635,888)
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the exercise of
54,879,940 (2010: 6,635,888) units of Bonus Warrants 748. As at 31
December 2011, all Bonus Warrants 748 had lapsed (2010: 60,660,133
units remained outstanding).

On 9 June 2010, the Company issued 77,733,834 warrants (Warrant
Code: 795) on the basis of one warrant for every ten existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants 795”). The holders
of Bonus Warrants 795 are entitled to subscribe at any time during 9
June 2010 to 8 June 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.60 per share. For the year ended 31 December 2011, 59,261,866
(2010: 98,038) new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon
the exercise of 59,261,866 (2010: 98,038) units of Bonus Warrants 795.
As at 31 December 2011, all Bonus Warrants 795 had lapsed (2010:
77,635,796 units remained outstanding).

At the annual general meeting held on 1 June 2010, the resolution to
approve the issue of 77,733,834 bonus shares on the basis of 1 bonus
share for every 10 ordinary shares held was passed by the shareholders.
The bonus shares were issued on 9 June 2010. The bonus shares are
issued, allotted and distributed, credited as fully paid up, upon issue and
rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares with effect from the
date of issue, except that they will not be entitled to the Bonus Warrants
795 as mentioned in note (b).

On 31 August 2010, the Company issued and allotted 1,385,170,068
convertible preference shares to HKC (Holdings) Limited. The convertible
preference shares carry rights to convert into ordinary shares at the
initial conversion rate of 1 convertible preference share to 1 ordinary
share, such conversion rate being subject to customary adjustments.
On 27 October 2011, HKC (Holdings) Limited converted 1,385,170,068
convertible preference shares into ordinary shares.

"
=
i

=

RZZFZAFAATHA - ARARRER

EEETRARRBRAERNERE —HRR
EE“ 2 EAE . F%1776,353,47510 R A% #E

B GRRBRREBRYE « 748) ([ALFRIHEE
748]) o AIRRIRIEE 7485 B ABHER
—EThAFRATNAE=_T——%HA
+=HHEREA - BRI REEFR0.3078
TLRIBHR B RAE o

MN-ZZB-—ZTFRA—B  AFREREE
TASRBERR —T—THFNAETHA
TR R (R RRERE SR  795) MALRX
MAREGR0.266ETT - XEFHEF-F
—ZDENA=ZTHEREPER -

HE-T——F+-A=+—BLFE "
54,879,940 1% (=& —Z F : 6,635,888
B) BREENIBTZHEERRA
54,879,9401) (= Z —Z 4 : 6,635,88811)
A RREFET748EITEM ST - RZF
—— &+ A=+—8  FTEAHNRRE
FE748E KM (= —ZF : 60,660,13317
MARITE) -

R-ZZE—ZEXANE  AQABRERS
HETRARATRERNHERE —HRK
EEEE %Xﬁ77733834f’7}u1%ﬂx$g
B (RRHEERSE  795) (4L FIRBAEE
795]) o AL F|RRRIEE 795HEAETEEBA
TE-ZEXNAAHE-Z——F AN
E'HHFﬁW BﬁHT&ufu\g%FtHXOGO/%TEWL
BHERZRD -HE-_T——F+= H
=+—BIFE - 59,261,866 (—ZF—

4 : 98,038/%) BRMEE0.01B L2 ¥
H§I59 261,8661) (= E —E 4 : 98, 038
1) AL N R AR AE B 7O I TE M 1T - R
T——F+-A=+—8  FELANZR
EEFTIBERB(ZZE—FF : 77,635,796

BIIERITE) ©

R-ZE—ZTENA—HRITZRERFA
gL RELERSHETREBRESR
—RATRR 2 B % 1777,733,834 IR 41 %
TREBR - ABRN T -TFENANAHE
17 o KRR EEAT ~ FLB R 1B ABR DI fE4H
B RBAREME I EEETARE
Hx1"=ﬁﬂn“*’ MRS EESE X
M5 (o) AT i 2 AT F RARAEFE 795 o

RZZE—ZFN\A=+—8 ARAM
EAER(ER) BRA AT RE S
1,385,170,068% AI ARE L A% o AIHANR(E
SRR R AT AR E S IR A B @ AR 2
%*i%m”i#&“‘%@ &R
LR ZIEDIAREBR - R=ZT——F 1A
Z+tR BEESER)BRARNR
1,385,170,068% AT A 1B %5 1% & 3BA% -
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(€

On 23 November 2010, the Company issued and allotted 300,000,000
convertible preference shares to STAR at HK$0.65 amounting to HK$195
million to STAR for cash. STAR may at any time during the ensuring 4
years require the Company to issue to them a maximum of 260,000,000
additional preference shares at a price of HK$0.75 per additional
preference share. The convertible preference shares carry rights to
convert into ordinary shares at the initial conversion rate of 1 convertible
preference share to 1 ordinary share, such conversion rate being subject
to customary adjustments.

Bt - ()

(©

R-ZT—TFE+—A-+=0 " K"AF
0.65%8 7T M STAREE 17 & it 300,000,000
fi% (& {& /195,000,000 7T 2 AT 32 f% & %
LA ENIR & o STARA] A RELR MU 4 R {E
A B 1% SRR R B A AR 5B IME £ %0.75
78 TT 2 (B & A H & % ¥ 17260,000,000 B%
FEIMBIIR o AIHANRIE S IR P AR A Pl R
IR AARRE IR 1R AR 2 M5 ik
bb 3R H AR T AR 1D - WK R R R AT IR
BHIFEE -

Share options are granted to employees, senior executives or officers, ] KRB RAANEBE MK B AR HRE
managers, directors or consultants of any members of the Group or any EREE  SRITHRABREIEASR -
Invested Entity. K2 - FEEYEMB L BARE
The exercise price must be at least the higher of TEBEAZLAUTRSE
0] the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s (i) BRI B B X AT B R (B
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; RATHIMTE
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock (ii) ROBEERZE B AEEEBE
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days TR E BRERSFHKT
immediately preceding the date of grant; and B R
(i)  the nominal value of a share. (i) & EE °
An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it is EREANK L AR TFRESESH
granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time of BER IR R HER 2 B I AT - 18
grant. An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance ERHERER BIRE AR HEZ
for a period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a consideration EQREANEEAFRER  BERKAIS
of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance. TBTTRIE -
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related BARITE 2 BRESE KRB BINETHT
weighted average exercise prices are as follows: EEZEHHMT
2010 2010
BT ==
At 1 January n—A—A 13,250,000 - 0.686 -
Granted B 12,500,000 - 0.732
Issue of bonus shares BEITHALAR 750,000 - (0.076)
At 31 December ®+=-—A=+—8 13,250,000 183,250,000 0.686 0.686

The weighted average remaining contractual life of these share options
approximates 8 years.

UL ERRE BT A OMETFEFRONE -
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26 Reserves 26 f#fE

Employee
share-based  Convertible
Share Exchange compensation note - equity Retained
premium reserve reserve  component earnings

EERS WRERE
R EE Bkt RERE -ER¥S REET ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER THER TER

Balance at 1 January 2010 RZE-ZF-A-AH

& 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 299,288
Exercise of bonus warrants IPANARESR 1,917 - - - - 1917
Issue of bonus shares BATHRR (777) - - - - (777)
Issue of convertible preference shares %17 A R B 5% 1% 940,550 - - - - 940,550
Reversal of deferred tax liabilities BOAREE

related to equity component of BERBA1EH
convertible note (Note 30) BT I8 & & (ff 5 30) - - - 376 - 376

Currency translation differences ERBEZS - 52,649 = = = 52,649
Employee share option benefits EEBERERR = = 1,631 = = 1,631
Profit for the year KEEEF = = = - 336,311 336,311
Balance at 31 December 2010 RZE-EF+-A

=t+-R&H 944,491 53,766 1,631 6,261 625,796 1,631,945
Balance at 1 January 2011 R-Z-—%—-A—H

e 944,491 53,766 1,631 6,261 625,796 1,631,945
Exercise of bonus warrants TEANARES 49,014 - - - - 49,014
Currency translation differences EFQEEE - 69,989 - - - 69,989
Employee share option benefits EEBRERF - - 1,574 - - 1,574
Profit for the year REFRF - - - - 13,196 13,196
Balance at 31 December 2011 RZE——5F+=A

“t+-R&H 993,505 123,755 3,205 6,261 638,992 1,765,718
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26 f#fEam

26 Reserves (continued)

Company

Share
premium

Rt aE
HK$000
TR

Exchange
reserve

EXfk
HK$000
TRR

Rfbdata (W)

Employee

Other  share-based
reserve compensation
(Note) reserve
EERH
RERE
HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
T

Convertible
note - equity
component
TRREE
-Bnfa
HK$'000
TER

Retained
earnings

RERH
HK$'000
T

ag
HK$'000
TiER

Balance at 1 January 2010 R-Z-Z£-f-H
&8 2,801 - 98,709 - 5,885 134,416 241,811
Exercise of bonus warrants I ARER 1,917 - - - - - 1,917
Issue of bonus shares Bk ! - - - - - {777
Issuance of convertible shares EGEES () 940,550 - - - - - 940,550
Reversal of deferred tax liabiities B E R ARZEES
related to equity componentof BB Z EEFRE
convertible note (Note 30) B (H30) = = - - 376 - 376
Currency translation differences ~ E{HEEE - 33,613 = = = o 33,613
Employee share option benefits 18 B Bk 8 7 - - - 1,631 - S 1631
Loss for the year rEERE = = = = = 29,256) 29,256
Balance at 31 December 2010 RZE-ZE+-4
=t-B&# 944,491 33,613 98,709 1,631 6,261 105,160 1,189,865
Balance at 1 January 2011 R-%-—-%-f-AH
ek 944,491 33,613 98,709 1,631 6,261 105,160 1,189,865
Exercise of bonus warrants TH A AR EE 49,014 - - - - - 49,014
Currency tranglation differences B HAEEE - 58,803 - - - - 58,803
Employes share option benefits & 8 B REEF - - - 1,574 - - 1,574
Proft for the year RERET - - - - - 47,218 47,218
Balance at 31 December 2011 WZE-——%+-4
=t-B&# 993,505 92,416 98,709 3,205 6,261 152,378 1,346,474

Note: The other reserve of the company related to an acquisition prior to 1

January 2001 and continues to be held in reserves.

et : AARLZ EMHHER-ET—F—F—
RAl— R ERER  WEERERKE

H o
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27 Bank borrowings 27 RITER
Group
REE
2011
—E——fF
HK$°000
FExT
Non-current JERE 618,334 660,560
Current mE 70,349 65,109
688,683 725,669
An amount of HK$380 million (2010: HK$400 million) of bank /& #1380,000,0008 L (=ZZF —ZF &F
borrowings is secured and guaranteed by the ultimate holding 400,000,000 7T ) 2 RITIERE T -
company. W R AIERR A EHELR o
An amount of HK$309 million (2010: HK$326 million) of bank /& 20309,000,000 T (Z & —ZF F
borrowings is secured and guaranteed by a fellow subsidiary. 326,000,000/ 7T ) Z RITERE T -

I iy — e [B) 4 P B 2 BIHEAR

Notes: BT
(@  The maturity of bank borrowings at the balance sheet date is as follows: (@ IRITERREEBRZEERMT
2011
—E——fF
HK$’000
FExT
Within one year —FER 70,349 65,109
In the second year F_F 70,349 67,476
In the third year to fifth year F=FEFRF 211,048 202,430
After the fifth year hFE 336,937 390,654
688,683 725,669

2011
—E——%F

HK$°000
TET

Wholly repayable after 5 years ERAFEDEEE 688,683 725,669
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)

(©

©)

Bank borrowings are denominated in Renminbi.

The effective interest rate at the balance sheet date was 6.8%.

Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment,
construction in progress, prepaid land lease payments and trade

receivables of the Group (Notes 16, 17, 18 and 22).

The Group did not have any undrawn borrowing facilities as of 31
December 2011 and 2010.

The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximates its fair value.
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the

contractual repricing dates or maturity (whichever is earlier) at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

MisE : (4&)
)  RITEFUAREHE -

€ REEAZERMNEXR68E -

@ RITEFUELEEETHWE  BBERF
5 EREIRE  BENTAEREERE
A (16~ 17 « 185%22).

e NZE——FRZZE-ZTFF+_A=+—
B ANEBETETAARRIERRESE -

)  SRITERREEEEAFERS -

@  AKBEEREHEEH AR - NS
Az BANENEERRABREER
VT

2010
—T—TF
HK$’000
FHT

NEEETNN

6 months or less 7N
AET=EA

6-12 months

190,067 200,062
498,616 525,607

688,683 725,669

The Company issued a non-interest bearing convertible note at a
par value of RMB73.5 million (equivalent to HK$83.1 million) on 30
December 2009. The note matures three years from the issue date at
its nominal value of RMB73.5 million (equivalent to HK$83.1 million) or
can be converted into shares at the holder’s option on any business
day during the conversion period at HK$1.0113 per share.

The effective interest rate at the balance sheet date was 3% (2010: 3%)).

ARABR-ZZETNFE+ A=+ BEETEE
A A R#73,500,0007T (8 & 783,100,000
BIL)Z T B MR RE - BHEZERE T
THER:R -FIH  EEEAARE
73,500,0007T (#8& 783,100,000/ 7T) + 8k
HEARERNERBANEREERRER
1.011BB L2 BREBRAR®D -

REEBZERNEXRIE(ZE—FF : 3
[E) -
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28 Convertible note (continued)

The convertible note recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as
follows:

28 TRRERE @)

REEACER 2 TRERRERAENT

Group and Company

AEERAEAF
2011
—_E——F
HK$’000
FTHExT
Face value and interest expenses Al R = E L B X
of convertible note 87,684 85,335
Equity component of convertible note A R AR 2R (7,048) (7,048)
Liability component of convertible note Al RN i & E 26 80,636 78,287
The present value of the liability component of the convertible note ARRERAES Y 2 REEL A FEE

approximates its fair value.

29 Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 29

The amount due to a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The balance was denominated in Renminbi.
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30 Deferred income tax liabilities 30 ELEFIEHEE
The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows: RIEFETAES AT
Group Company
REE P NN
2011 2011
—E——fF —E——&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Deferred tax liabilities: R IBEE :
— To be recovered after more - ¥R+ @ A%
than 12 months U =] 61,677 72,263 - 399
— To be recovered within —BRt+T-_@AR
12 months W@ 4,642 4,631 399 388
66,319 76,894 399 787
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year are as FRZBIEFSHABEEENT
follows:

Fair value
adjustment Fair value
arising from adjustment
business Withholding Convertible  on intangible
combinations tax note assets Total
REEESH BHNEE
ZATERE AN 2 TRREE AT ESRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR TER
At 1 January 2010 RZZE-ZF—-F—H - 2,477) (1,163) (1,003) (4,643
Currency translation differences ERBEESR (1,515) (974) = = (2,489)
Acquisttion of subsidiaries (Note 36) U B 1 8 2 = (Ff 5 36) (45,742) = = = (45,742)
Income statement credited/(charged) R A/ (1K)

(Note 12) (M5E12) 590 (25,989) - 1,003 (24,396)
Credited to equity FEREA - - 376 = 376
At 31 December 2010 R-E-ZF

+-A=+-H (46,667) (29,440 (787) - (76,894)
At 1 January 2011 R-E-——F—fA—H (46,667) (29,440) (787) - (76,894)
Currency translation differences EXBREZE (1,553) (1,546) - - (3,099)
Income statement credited/(charged) Wiz it A/ (1K)

(Note 12) (B zE12) 15,585 (2,299) 388 - 13,674
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%+=-H

Er=0E (32,635) (33,285) (399) - (66,319)
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30 Deferred income tax liabilities (continued)

RIS RR M

30 EIEMEHEE@®

Convertible note

AR EE

2011

Company —_E——5F

HK$°000

FET
At 1 January R—A—H (787) (1,163)
Movement during the year FNEEF 388 376
At 31 December w+=—A=+—8~ (399) (787)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$17,957,000 (2010: HK$13,488,000) in respect of losses amounting
to HK$72,776,000 (2010: HK$54,899,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry dates
except tax losses of HK$2,960,000 (2010: HK$2,743,000) which expire
at various dates up to 2016 (2010: 2015).

31 Derivative liability

The balance represents the subscription right granted to STAR, and
was fair valued at 31 December 2011 (Note 25(¢)).

32 Trade and other payables

AN B A T BT 18 72,776,000 T (= F
—Z4F 1 54,899,000 7T ) HERIE LT FT 15
REE17,957,008F T (=T —ZTF :
13,488,000/8 70 ) A A &K B & E R
MWA - ZEMBBHEBELEINEHA - B
2,960,0008 7L ( Z & —=F : 2,743,000/
T ZHEBEEREE S —RF(=ZF
—ZF  ZT—FHF) L2 NEBEEW

PTETAGE

EHRIBFAISTARKH 2 RERE - UTHRZ=ZF
——E+ - A=+ BRAFEFE (M
25 (g)) °

31

32 BARRREMENRK

Group Company
RE PN
2011 2011
—E——5F —_E——5F
HK$’000 HK$°000
TR FHEx
Trade payables B BR 827 117 - -
Payables for acquisition and MEBEREZIWE
construction of property, WS REEZ
plant and machinery AN 79,678 77,502 - -
Other payables and accruals Efh FE A R R FEET
=93¢ 25,091 26,5632 3,166 4,596
105,596 104,151 3,166 4,596
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32 Trade and other payables (continued) 32 NERMRHEMESRK @
At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the ageing analysis of trade payables is RIE——FR-F—ZTF+-A=+—
as follows: A ENERRZREDTOT
Group
IRE
2011
—_E——F
HK$’000
FTHERT
Less than 12 months L 12M@ A 822 103
12 months and more 1218 A R IA & 5 14
827 117
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are REEERR R EA BN R Z BREERIAT
denominated in the following currencies: HEEFI(E
2011
—E——F
HK$’000
THRT
Hong Kong dollars BT 5,341 8,087
Renminbi AR #E 100,216 96,024
Singapore dollars s o 39 40
105,596 104,151
At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the other payables of the Company RZBE——FRZF—ZTF+A=1+—
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. H W RARZ BB TTAE -
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33 Commitments 33 A&iE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EBEAREE
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but not yet REEBHERERBREEZERH
incurred was as follows: FRUNNE

2011
—E——F

HK$’000
FTERT

Capital expenditure in respect of alternative 3% R & X BLIRIBE ~

energy projects: BEARRY :
Contracted but not provided for BEIABRBEE 98,803 72,974
Authorised but not contracted for ERERERIHN 229,746 322,289
328,549 395,263
(b) Commitments under operating leases (b) REBLEHEZHAIE
The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non- RIRB R i REF 2 T HiE &
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings HEZ ARFERSETOT :

were as follows:

2011
—_E——F

HK$’000
TER

No later than 1 year —F R 1,514 2,456
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years ~—E & B AER 1,101 3,583

2,615 6,039
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The Group entered into transactions with the following related parties
for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(@)

Management services fee of HK$2,190,000 (2010:
HK$8,843,000) was paid to the ultimate holding company, of
which HK$Nil (2010: HK$8,545,000) is subject to the annual
caps under continuing connected transactions between the
Group and HKC.

Office rental of HK$899,000 (2010: HK$NIl) was paid to the
ultimate holding company, which was exempt from the reporting
requirements under continuing connected transactions between
the Group and HKC.

Office rental of HK$207,000 (2010: HK$432,000) was paid to a
fellow subsidiary. The office rental was charged at terms pursuant
to agreements.

Property management fee of HK$95,000 (2010: HK$272,000)
was paid to a fellow subsidiary. The property management fee
was charged at terms pursuant to agreements.

In 2010, the Group acquired several subsidiaries and associated
companies from HKC at a consideration of HK$853,802,000
satisfied by the issuance of convertible preference shares to
HKC. The consideration was determined pursuant to agreements
(Note 36).

Key management compensation

e Z——FN_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—
ALFEAEEMETYIBEE A L2 50
—Fc

@ ERZEERIAAINEERS
221900008 L (ZF — T F -
8,843,000 L) + ERETHEL(ZE
—Z4F 1 8,545,000/8 7T ) /B i 7 AR =
EHEEBERET I RERERISE
TZFELER -

b)) EBREEERARIABRAZERS
899,000 B L (ZE —FF : T &
TL)  ERGETAEBBEEEER
ETZRBERERIET ZRHRR
E

o

© EBEmM—HRERWBRAZNHAZE
H€207,008T(ZF—FF :
432,000/870) - PAEMEIRIEHHE
TEFRH0RR ©

0 Em-—HRERMNBARINYEER
#£095,000/8 7T ( ZFE—Z4F : 272,000
BIL) - METEBRE R EIERI
]}% °

e M-ZZ—ZTF AEEREBELE
{8 853,802,000 7T Us B S s B B
RAIREENTE  THABE SRR
TR RE SR IR 2 B - xR E
TRk E (KI5E36) -

M E2EEEREZME

2010

—E—TF

HK$’'000

FB T

Salaries and other benefits Hae MkEMETR 7,154 7,320
Directors’ fees ESHE 825 758
Share-based compensation LA & 193 1 3R B 1,574 1,631
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme  iE Kk & f% 24~ — & 28 { 3k 51 2 48 40
9,601 9,749
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(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before (@) FBRFATERIAT(EER) SRFEL
income tax to cash used in operations EEKTARESZHER
2010
—ZE-ZF
HK$'000
FAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax including K58 AT (B548), 7% 7
discontinued operations (BREERIEEEXEE) (7,803) 359,720
Finance costs Bl & AR 49,716 10,852
Finance income B s U A (2,546) (804)
Depreciation and amortisation 8 R 8 69,998 14,000
Impairment losses B &R 42,912 4,735
Gain on deregistration BYOH o i e g - (145)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired ~ FrU i & &= 2B 2 A F(E
over cost of acquisition B IR B R AN 2 B - (386,553)
Share of profits less losses of associated FE A B & N R e IR &S 18
companies (67,376) (21,750)
Fair value gain on derivative liability PTETRAaGzATFEKS (69,320) (17,018)
Share-based compensation R 1+ ZR w8 1,574 1,631
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital 44 18 & & % &) B & &% 71,7
changes (B1B) 17,155 (35,332)
Increase in inventory FEEm (971) (276)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other JE UK BR 3R K EL At FE UL ER
receivables B (35 n) 48,695 (1,359)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other JE {-F BR 3R I EL At A5 3R
payables #n,/CRd) 1,423 (8,605)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KRR (TR B S 66,302 (45,568)
(b) Major non-cash transactions (b) FEFHRERH

(i

(i

In 2010, the Company issued 1,385,170,068 convertible
preference shares with a fair value of HK$853,802,000 as
the consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associated companies as described in Note 36.

In 2010, electricity income generated during testing stage
was deducted from the balance of construction in progress
as the receivable of revenue generated is part of the cost
of testing (Note 17).

M

(i)

RZZE—FF  ARAIBT
1,385,170,068 & & F & &
853,802,000/ 7T 2 I 2 % 18 5
B fERBKRENEB AR REE
NAEZREHIFESS) ©

R-T—FF  RBIFHHRE
ZEHNRAC BERTIRER
R - RE R AT ERER E YK
BRI A—EE D (HEE17) ©
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On 12 May 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“S&P”) with HKC to acquire 100% equity interest in
HKE (BVI) Ltd. (“HKE(BVI)"). The principal activity of HKE(BVI)
is to operate wind farms and waste-to-energy plant through
its subsidiaries and associated companies. The acquisition is
consistent with the Group’s strategy to focus on the alternative
energy business. Based on the S&P, the purchase consideration
was settled by way of issuing and allotting 1,385,170,068
convertible preference shares, the fair value of which, on the S&P
date, was HK$1,018,100,000.

On 31 August 2010, the Group completed the acquisition.
The fair values of the respective convertible preference shares
and the net assets of HKE(BVI) were HK$853,802,000 and
HK$1,240,355,000 respectively. This resulted in an excess of fair
value of net assets acquired over cost of acquisition which has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

RZZT—ZTFRA+T=H A5EHHE
EAERRITVEEGE(EERZE]D
AYFEHKE (BVI) Ltd.(THKE (BVI)))
S ERR AR KERS - HKE BVI)EE#£KA
FEREBRRREEAREERN
BB RAIRBER o WHEEAEE
EIRBEREREBZRE—H - B
BEEHE  WEREBDBEBERITR
#i2 3% 1,385,170,068 % 7] #2 A% 48 56 A%
St EREERZAHZATER
1,018,100,000/8 7T °

RZE—ZTF)\A=+—H8 " &
SETRUEE - ATIRBRELRK
HKEBVNEEFEZAFED A
853,802,0005% 7T & 1,240,355,0007%
7o Bt - T EEFEZATE
B A - WHRERE 2ERAR

PrRE B EFEZFIBANT ¢

HK$'000
FA T
Fair value of convertible preference shares REEWRZABRITRRELER ZAFE
on S&P date 1,018,100
Less: Fair value changes W ATFEEZE (164,298)
Fair value of convertible preference shares R A RRELER 2 AFE
on the completion date 853,802
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below) FTWBEEFEZAFE(RTX) (1,240,359)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired FrugBg & EFE 2 A FEBH WK A
over cost of acquisition (386,553)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12) EEFEEE (ME12) 26,463
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired FruBg & = E 2 A FEB WK A
over cost of acquisition, net of tax (M BIE) (360,090)
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(@)

(Continued) (@
The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

(#)
BREELZABNEERBEN
T~

HK$’'000
FA T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEEY 104,630
Restricted cash PR FI3E & 926
Property, plant & equipment (Note 16) Y - RS R (M FE16) 499,845
Construction in progress (Note 17) EEITEMFE7) 491,161
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 18) AT L & R (FFeE18) 16,792
Intangible assets (Note 19) EmREE(ME19) 188,361
Interests in associated companies N RN oy 748,883
Inventory FE 5,815
Trade and other receivables JFE WA B 3R e L A R KR 130,888
Trade and other payables JE < AR R % EL A & A5 3K (111,088)
Bank borrowings RITHEK (766,196)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) EETIE & & (M 5£30) (45,742)
Total identifiable net assets AR EEFE AR 1,264,275
Non-controlling interests FEIE RS (23,920)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FriiEEEFE 2~ FE
cost of acquisition B b B PR AR 2 BER (386,553)
Total purchase consideration — convertible BEBRE-TBRRELR
preference shares 853,802

The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired is (b)
HK$130,888,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair value

of HK$24,736,000. The gross contractual amount for trade

receivables is HK$24,736,000, for which no provision has been

made.

Since the date of acquisition, HKE(BVI) contributed revenue
of approximately HK$17.90 million and generated a profit of
approximately HK$13.96 million. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1 January 2010, the Group’s revenue and profit for the year
would have increased by approximately HK$26.64 million and
decreased by approximately HK$24.12 million respectively.

FIT LS 3 JE LR BR R R EL At R M R 2 A
{E/4130,888,000/8 T * WEF AR
T1E A24,736,0005 7T 7 FEUBR X -
FEURBR TR 2 & #4258 /524,736,000
JC ¢ WA SRIBVE L B o

B Ui B HAATE - HKE(BVI)E A5 5k UL
%5 #917,900,0007% T M = 4 i I 49
13,960,000 7T « REBEWE R =F
—ZEF-A—B#ET AAEEF
WU aR R A6 i A % 9 RIS A 49
26,640,0007% 7T M > #924,120,000
PEIT
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37 Discontinued operations 37

The Group discontinued its business in software development
(Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited). The results of this business are
reported as discontinued operations.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operations is as
follows:

(a) Assets of disposal group as held for sale

ERIEEEXK

AEEREERHREEBCRIIEEET
BMTBRATR]) - WXB 2 XE2IIREK

ERIEREXBZHBERDT -

() FERENEEAERE

2011
—z——%

HK$°000

Cash and cash equivalents

THET
4,651 -

(b) Liabilities of disposal group as held for sale

(b)

FAERENEBEHRE

2011
—E——fF
HK$000
FET
Other payables H b FE A 3R 2 =
(c) Cumulative income or expense recognised () BOBABERFEZEEAM
in other comprehensive income relating to REMZ2EBAERZRETR
disposal group classified as held for sale AR

2011
o i

HK$’000
TER

Currency translation differences

ERHREEE

5,017 1,471
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37 Discontinued operations (continued)

(c) Cumulative income or expense recognised
in other comprehensive income relating to
disposal group classified as held for sale
(Continued)

Analysis of the result of discontinued operations is as follows:

é;«(

II\I

37 EI NSy

(c)

LT )

ROBERBAGEZEEAM
REMZEBARR ZRETW
ASBA ()

ERIEREEBEEITAOT -

2011
—E——F
HK$°000
F#& T
Revenue I z8 792 6,213
Expenses B (4,278) (11,726)
Loss before taxation of discontinued ERIEEEEB BRBIA
operations 518 (3,486) (6,513)
Taxation H1E - 1,003
Loss from discontinued operations ERIEEEER 2EE (3,486) (4,510)
Loss for the year from discontinued IATEERBE KL
operations attributable to: ERBEE 2 KEEEIS
— Equity holders of the Company —ARRBIREERFTEA (3,486) (4,510)

ERIEREERBRIGRSREFEN

The net cash flows attributable to the discontinued operations

136

are as follows:

T~

2011

—_E——F

HK$°000

FTHExT
Operating cash flows KEBRPRE (2,594) (136)
Investing cash flows REBRERE 788 347
Financing cash flows MEREMNE (7,529) -

Total net cash flows BIWeREFR (9,335) 21
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Assets as per consolidated balance sheet RIEFCEESBRITEE

31 December 2010 RZE—ZEF+=ZR=+—H

Trade and other receivables (Note 22) JFE WS BR 3k N B Wk (B9 5E22) 160,599
Restricted cash (Note 23) PR 5138 & (ffsE23) 957
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) ReERReSEED (MEe4) 362,555
Total AT 524,111

31 December 2011

Trade and other receivables (Note 22)
Restricted cash (Note 23)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24)

RZE——F+=ZA=+—H

R M5 B R % EL Ath 8 Uk 3R (B 32 22)
X PR 3R 2 (fF5E23)
REeERBELEED (MiE24)

Total BEt
Liabilities as per consolidated RE&EEBBRAT
balance sheet 8&
31 December 2010 RZT—FF
+=-—A=+—8
Bank borrowings (Note 27) RITIE R (M sE27) = 725,669 725,669
Convertible note (Note 28) TR 4% (P 5E28) = 78,287 78,287
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary — J& <[5 Z [t B A &) 7018
(Note 29) (Kt 3E29) = 20,125 20,125
Derivative liability (Note 31) PTETEAEAE (S 75,500 = 75,500
Trade and other payables (Note 32) & 1~ Bf Zx & H th & <+ 3%
(Ht3E32) - 104,151 104,151
Total 4=t 75,500 928,232 1,003,732
31 December 2011 R—ZZE——%+=A
SE=F
Bank borrowings (Note 27) SR1T & (P 5E27)

Convertible note (Note 28)
Derivative liability (Note 31)

Trade and other payables (Note 32)

AR R 1% (P 5E28)

MTETIAEAGEREES)

JRE 1 BR R I EL b B A5F 3R
(FfF5E32)

Total

et
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Company

Assets as per balance sheet
31 December 2010

REESBERMTEE

R=F—FF+=A=+—8

Other receivables (Note 22) H Wk (M 5E22) 328
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 21) JFE U B BB A A Zk 8 (B sE21) 1,261,044
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) ReERREEED (KMEes) 307,281
Total 1@t 1,568,653
31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H
Other receivables (Note 22) H b U 5k (B 5E22) 459
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 21) JiE W BT /B8 & B 3k 3E (FiF sk 21) 1,554,064
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) RekReZEY(ME24) 60,845
Total et 1,615,368
Liabilities as per balance sheet BEE&GBXRARAR
31 December 2010 RZE—FF
+=-—A=+—8

Convertible note (Note 28) AR AR (M 3E28) - 78,287 78,287
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHB |8 & R 3R IB

(Note 21) (FF5E21) - 215,714 215,714
Derivative liability (Note 31) PTETHRAMGE (ST 75,500 - 75,500
Other payables (Note 32) H b & A 5% (B 5E32) - 4,596 4,596
Total et 75,500 208,597 374,097
31 December 2011 R—ZT——F+=A8

=E=[E

Convertible note (Note 28) A R =ik (M 5E28) - 80,636 80,636
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR IENGIE S

(Note 21) (Pt zE21) - 161,163 161,163
Derivative liability (Note 31) PTETHAE(MES1) 9,370 - 9,370
Other payables (Note 32) H b e 51 (BT 5E32) - 3,166 3,166
Total 48 =t 9,370 244,965 254,335
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39 Principal subsidiaries and associated 39 FENBARIKEE QT
companies
Listed below are the subsidiaries and associated companies which, in TREVNEEFRAENETEEN, HEE
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net assets FEEEAFECMBARKEE AR
of the Group:

Subsidiaries

HE2R

J..C. Enterprises (Hong Kong) Limited?
BHETES (BB)ERAAY

J.I.C. (Macao Commercial Offshore)
Company Limited

RHCRPIBERERSE) ERAAF

Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited

(note)+*

R BT KA ARAR ()

Best Whole Holdings Limited*
REZBRBRAA

Joy Holdings Limited*

BEMERN T IEREARAA

Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of
legal entity

T

REgERER

Hong Kong
BB

Macao

R

PRC/

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

e/

NEBELE

Hong Kong
Bt

British Virgin Islands
AREREHS

PRC/

Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

B/

PGB E

Principal activities

FREK

Inactive

Tmey
Inactive

-

Inactive
rEey

Investment holding

BARIR

Investment holding

Wind power project in

Siziwang Qi, Inner Mongolia

AREOFERZ
BA%ERR

Issued share
capital/Paid up
registered capital
BRITRE/
EfEMER

HK$500,000
500,000 7

HK$97,500
97,5007 7T

US$800,000
800,000% 7T

HK$1
18T

US$1
E

RMB172,526,500
AR%
172,626,5007C

Percentage of equity/
Paid up registered
capital held
PR BAEM
EXBOL

2011

e

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
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39 Principal subsidiaries and associated FEMBATREE QT @)

companies (continued)

Issued share
capital/Paid up
registered capital
BRITRE/
ENEmEL

Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of
legal entity
MRS 2

Percentage of equity/
Paid up registered
capital held
FiEs ENER
- ENER

Principal activities

REeERRR TEEK

140

Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi

) Wind Power Limited*
ERMER(NFEE_S) AL
BRAF-

HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited-
ERMERKNZRERAR:

HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited*
EEAER(EE)ERERDR"

China Renewable Energy (Services)
Limited

FEBEERR(ER)ERAA

(Formerly known as “HKE (Services)
Limited")

(FImIEEHER(ER)ERAF])

HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power
Limited**

BREMERERT BV) EAe
BRA R

HKE (BVI) Limited+
EBTERBY)ERAR

HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited*
ERMER(HB)REERAA):

Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi)

Wind Power Limited*
FETER (NI R
BRAR"

HKC (Linyi) Holdings Limited*
ERERBRNERERAA-

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
&

British Virgin Islands
ABREES

Hong Kong
&

British Virgin Islands
RERAEE

British Virgin Islands
HERLES

Hong Kong/PRC
B/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/

Investment holding HK$1,000
RERZR 1,000/ 7T
Investment holding HK$1
REEZR 18T
Investment holding US$1
REER 1ETT
Human resources management HK$1
ANERER 18T
Investment holding US$1,000
RERZR 1,000% 7T
Investment holding USS$1
REEZR E
Investment holding HKS$1
REER BT
Investment holding HK$2
REEZR 2B
Investment holding HK$1
REER 1B

2011

—F-—-F

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBHRRME

39 Principal subsidiaries and associated 39 FEMBARIRBEE QT @)

companies (continued)

Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of
legal entity

T

REgERER

Issued share
capital/Paid up
registered capital
BRITRE/
EffZMER

Principal activities

FREK

Percentage of equity/
Paid up registered
capital held
FiEEs ENE M
EXBOE
2011
3%

HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$4 100% 100%
BENER(ERNREERAT FE/HE REER 48T
Sinoriver International Limited** British Virgin Islands/ Investment holding USS$1 100% 100%
FNERBRR A PRC REER 1ETT
RERZEE/TE
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%
Limitedt* BB/ A REEK 2057
BB (RE)BR AR
APC Wind Power Pte Limited** Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
B REER 10T MK T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company ~ PRC/ Wind Power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
Limited*# Sino-foreign equity joint Heilongjiang, the PRC 100,000,00078 7T
SMENEE (M) BERD A venture RABEETIZRANES
RE/RNEERE BA
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) PRC/ Wind Power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% 86.68%
Company Limited+* Sino-foreign equity joint Heilongjiang, the PRC 150,100,000/ 7T
ERENBE(BR)BRRA venture RAEBREIZRANES
mE/ REERE ER
BRFERNFIERRERAR Y PRC/ Wind Power project in RMB166,480,000 100% 100%
Sino-foreign equity joint ~ Siziwang Qi, Inner Mongolia, ARE
venture the PRC 166,480,0007T
RE/ HNEERE PERAFERFERZ
EWEESE!
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 Principal subsidiaries and associated
companies (continued)

142

Associated companies

BENT

CECIC HKC Wind Power Company
Limited+*=

REEE A ERENBE(RIL)

=l UNGIRE

CECIC HKE Wind Power Company
Limited+#=

HETRE R N E B (RiE)
BRA R0

CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power
Company Limited+™

HEEEER(HBIRNEE
BRA R0

Linyi National Environmental New Energy

Company Limited+*"
BT R AR A PR A A0

Note: Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited has applied for voluntary liquidation.

Remarks:

only

Interest held by subsidiaries
Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
E Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purpose

Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of
legal entity

MK S

REgERER

PRC/
Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

hE/TNRERE

PRC/
Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

hE/TNRERE

PRC/
Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

hE/TNRERE

PRC/
Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

PE/PNRELE

e UBHRRME

Issued share
capital/Paid up

registered capital

Principal activities

FREK

Wind power project in
Danjinghe, Hebei, the PRC

RPBETILERZT2EN
BEEA

Wind power project in
Lunaobao, Hebei, the PRC

R BT L& I8 2 B D
BHEER

Wind power project in
Changma, Gansu, the PRC

REBHBESZANEE
EH

Waste-to-energy project in
Linyi, Shandong, the PRC
RABIIRETZAREE

BEH

ERTRE/
EfFMER

RMB545,640,000
AR
545,640,000 7T

RMB323,260,000
ARE
323,260,0007C

RMB589,620,000
ARE
589,620,000

RMB100,000,000
AR%
100,000,0007%

FTEMBATRIREE DT (@

Percentage of equity/
Paid up registered
capital held
FiEEs BAEM
EXBEAL

2011

—E——F

40% 40%

30%

30%

40%

40%

40% 40%

CRYIFmEETFRMNARARERFERE

£ o

BmhalBAREE
W IE A R GE SRR F P E R
FREAR T T #laE - AR



TEBLERRRARAD T FFH

Five-Year Financial

2010 2009 2008 2007
T TTNE ZTN\F 2TtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT THT FAT
Consolidated statement of REZERARE
comprehensive income
Revenue Wz
Continuing operations BEICEEB 89,897 17,897 = = =
Discontinued operations BRIEREER 792 6,213 10,609 13,877 654,010
90,689 24,110 10,609 13,877 654,010
Profit/(loss) before income tax Frig B anEF,/ (E18)
Continuing operations BEICEED (4,317) 365,233 6,340 (35,272) =
Discontinued operations BRIHSE R (3,486) (5,513) (3,686) (66,398) 217,559
(7,803) 359,720 2,654 (101,670) 217,559
Income tax credit/(expense) FTisHiige, /(X H)
Continuing operations HEGE LR 12,369 (25,399) (14,862) 1,092 =
Discontinued operations D4R | HAR T - 1,003 526 5,871 10,903
12,369 (24,396) (14,336) 6,963 10,903
Profit/(loss) for the year FET/(E8B)
Continuing operations HEGE LR 8,052 339,834 (8,522) (34,180) =
Discontinued operations BRIHSE X (3,486) (4,510) (3,160) (60,527) 228,462
4,566 335,324 (11,682) (94,707) 228,462
Non-controlling interests FEE R R 8,630 987 1,251 4,087 =
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity AR FIIREEZSIEE A
holders of the Company FEEET,/ (B518)
Continuing operations BBEGEER 16,682 340,821 (7,271) (29,193) -
Discontinued operations BRIEREET (3,486) (4,510) (3,160) (60,527) 228,462
13,196 336,311 (10,431) (89,720) 228,462
Consolidated balance sheet RAEBERER
Net current assets RBEEFE 198,589 265,317 170,296 287,911 330,182
Non-current assets FRBEE 2,293,555 2,231,471 217,368 36,522 74,678
Non-current liabilities FRDEE (684,653) (815,741) (80,650) (1,709) (7,414)
Net assets including BEFERE
non-controlling interests IR iE S 1,807,491 1,681,047 307,014 322,724 397,446
Share capital & 26,564 25,422 7,726 7,635 7,635
Reserves 1 1,765,718 1,631,945 299,288 301,176 389,811
Non-controlling interests FEE R 15,209 23,680 = 13,913 =
Total equity e Tyt 1,807,491 1,681,047 307,014 322,724 397,446
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Five-Year Financial Summary FF8i5ERHE

2011
—E2——F
HK cents
AL
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF,/(F8)
— basic —EX
Continuing operations BERSER 1.42 40.2 (0.95) (3.82) -
Discontinued operations BRI SR (0.30) (0.53) (0.41) (7.93) 29.92
1.12 39.67 (1.36) (11.75) 29.92
Dividend per share TR E
— attributable to the year —FEEN Nil£ Nild Nilf Nl Nil
Return on total equity (note) BRI R R R IR R
(BEE) 0.3% 19.9% (3.8%) (29.3%) 57.5%
Note: Pz -

Return on total equity represents the current year’s profit/loss for the year expressed as ~ BEREZ BB RE AFREH,/HEAHEBEFESF
a percentage of the closing total equity for the year concerned. R REREEZ BN -

144



China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
HEBLRFEREARLT

9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

FRNERDEREME TSR EF P 01892

www.cre987.com
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